
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

Please note that by law this meeting can be filmed, audio-
recorded, photographed or reported electronically by the use 
of social media by anyone attending.  This does not apply to 
any part of the meeting that is held in private session.  The 
Council will webcast the meeting. 

Please ask for: 
 

 
* Reporting to Cabinet 

27 September 2022 
 
 
Dear Councillor 
 
 

You are requested to attend a meeting of the WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
CABINET PLANNING AND PARKING PANEL to be held on Thursday 6 October 2022 at 
7.30 pm in the . 
 

 
 
Yours faithfully 

 
Governance Services Manager 
 
 

A G E N D A 
PART 1 

 

1.   SUBSTITUTIONS  
 

 To note any substitution of Panel Members in accordance with Council Procedure 
Rules. 
 

2.   APOLOGIES  
 

3.   MINUTES  
 

 To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting held on 15 September 
2022 (previously circulated).  
 

4.   NOTIFICATION OR URGENT BUSINESS TO BE CONSIDERED UNDER ITEM 9  
 

5.   DECLARATION OF INTERESTS BY MEMBERS  
 

 To note declarations of Members’ disclosable pecuniary interests, non-disclosable 
pecuniary interests and non-pecuniary interests in respect of items on this Agenda. 
 

Public Document Pack



6.   PUBLIC QUESTION TIME AND PETITIONS  
 

 Up to thirty minutes will be made available for questions from members of the 
public on issues relating to the work of the Committee and to receive any petitions. 
 

7.   HOUSING DELIVERY TEST ACTION PLAN (Pages 5 - 22) 
 

 Report of the Executive Director (Place) on the Housing Delivery Test Action Plan. 

 

8.   WELWYN VILLAGE CONSERVATION AREA CHARACTER APPRAISAL AND 
MANAGEMENT PLAN (Pages 23 - 98) 
 

 Report of the Executive Director (Place) on the Welwyn Village Conservation Area 
Character Appraisal and Management Plan. 

 

9.   SUCH OTHER BUSINESS AS, IN THE OPINION OF THE CHAIRMAN, IS OF 
SUFFICIENT URGENCY TO WARRANT IMMEDIATE CONSIDERATION  
 

10.   EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 

 The Panel is asked to resolve: 
 
That under Section 100(A)(2) and (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press 
and public be now excluded from the meeting for item 9 (if any) on the grounds 
that it involves the likely disclosure of confidential or exempt information as defined 
in Section 100A(3) and Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the said Act (as amended).  
 
In resolving to exclude the public in respect of the exempt information, it is 
considered that the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the 
public interest in disclosing the information.  
 

PART II 
 

11.   ANY OTHER BUSINESS OF A CONFIDENTIAL OR EXEMPT NATURE AT THE 
DISCRETION OF THE CHAIRMAN  
 

 
Circulation: Councillors A.Hellyer (Chairman) 

S.Boulton (Vice-Chairman) 
S.Bonfante 
G.Michaelides 
L.Musk 
R.Platt 
J.Quinton 
 

D.Richardson 
P.Shah 
C.Stanbury 
K.Thorpe 
S.Thusu 
F.Wachuku 
 

 Co-opted Members:- 
Tenants’ Panel Representatives 
To be appointed 

 
 Senior Management Team 

Press and Public (except Part II Items) 
 
If you require any further information about this agenda please contact Governance 
Services democracy@welhat.gov.uk  

mailto:democracy@welhat.gov.uk


Part I 
Main author: Lucy Palmer 
Executive Member: Cllr 
Stephen Boulton 
All Wards 

 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
CABINET PLANNING & PARKING PANEL – 6 OCTOBER 2022 
REPORT OF THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (PLACE) 
 
HOUSING DELIVERY TEST ACTION PLAN 

1 Executive Summary 

1.1 The Government published the housing delivery test results on the 14th January 
2022, covering the period 2018/19 – 2020/21. This confirmed that 1,486 homes 
had been built in Welwyn Hatfield during the three years, against a target of 
2,245 homes (therefore meeting 66% of the requirement). This means that the 
Council is required to prepare an Action Plan in order to assess the causes of 
under-delivery and identify actions to increase delivery in future years. This is 
the third action plan the Council has produced, the last was published in March 
2021. 

2 Recommendation(s) 

2.1 That the Panel recommends the Housing Delivery Test Action Plan and Interim 
Five Year Housing Land Supply update to Cabinet for publication on the 
Council’s website.  

3 Background 

3.1 The Housing Delivery Test (HDT) is an annual measure of housing delivery 
which compares ‘total net homes delivered’ against the ‘number of homes 
required’. As the Council does not have a recently adopted Local Plan, the 
number of homes required for Welwyn Hatfield is taken from the Government’s 
local housing need figures, calculated using the Standard Methodology. 

3.2 Guidance published in January 20221  set out the calculation for the 2021 
Housing Delivery Test, which included an adjustment to the targets for the years 
2019/20 and 2020/21 to account for potential delays to delivery resulting from 
the coronavirus pandemic. There was a reduction in the period for measuring 
total homes required; for 2020/21 the target was for an 8-month period rather 
than 12 months (resulting in a target of 583 rather than 875 dwellings), and for 
2019/20 an 11 month period (resulting in a target of 795 rather than 868 
dwellings). 

  

 
1 Department for Levelling Up, Housing & Communities, Jan 2022,  Housing Delivery Test: 2021 
measurement technical note 

Page 3

Agenda Item 7



4 Explanation 

4.1 During the period 2018/19 – 2020/21, the borough delivered 1,486 homes of 
the 2,245 homes required over these three years. Therefore the Council’s 
Housing Delivery Test result for 2021 was 66%.  

Table 1: Welwyn Hatfield Housing Delivery Test 2021 

 
Target (number of 
homes required) 

Completions (net 
homes delivered) 

% of target 
achieved 

2018/19 867 462 53% 
2019/20 795 673 85% 
2020/21 583 351 60% 

Total 2018-2021 2,245 1,486 66% 
 

4.2 This result has three consequences:  

• As supply is below 95% of the requirement, the Council again needs to 
prepare an action plan to assess the causes of under-delivery and identify 
actions to increase delivery in future years; 

• As supply is below 85% (which the NPPF identifies as ‘significant under-
delivery of housing’) the Council again needs to add a 20% buffer to its 
five year housing land supply, to improve the prospect of achieving the 
planned supply; 

• As supply has fallen below 75%, the Council is required to continue to apply 
the presumption in favour of sustainable development when determining 
planning applications.  The NPPF2 states that the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development means: “granting planning permission unless (i) 
the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas of assets of 
particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development 
proposed or (ii) any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in 
this Framework taken as a whole.” 

4.3 An updated Action Plan has been prepared and is included as an Appendix to 
this report. The Action Plan aims to highlight reasons for past under-delivery, 
as well as setting out ways to reduce the risk of further under-delivery in future 
years through setting out a number of actions. These actions have been carried 
forward from the previous Housing Delivery Test Action Plan, in summary, they 
are: 

• Progress the adoption of the Local Plan; 

• Continue to determine planning applications for housing schemes as fast as 
reasonably possible; 

• Apply the presumption in favour of sustainable development when 
determining planning applications for housing schemes; 

 
2 Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government, July 2021, paragraph 11 (d), National 
Planning Policy Framework 

Page 4



• Continue to consider the necessity of planning conditions for housing 
permissions; 

• Continue to discharge planning conditions for housing schemes as fast as 
reasonably possible; 

• Continue to prepare S106 agreements as fast as reasonably possible/Work 
with HCC to prepare S106 agreements involving contributions for their 
services as fast as reasonably possible; 

• Continue to devise, submit and determine corporate applications for new 
housing; 

• Work with Hertfordshire Growth Board to identify funding opportunities for 
accelerated housing delivery sites. 

4.4 The Action Plan also includes an update to the Council’s Five Year Housing 
Land Supply position. The update has been provided as at 1st April 2022 for the 
period 2022/23 to 2026/27 against a requirement of 888 dwellings per annum, 
as required by the standard methodology for 2022/23. A 20% buffer was also 
applied, which is required by the Housing Delivery Test when delivery falls 
below 85% of the requirement. The Council’s updated Housing Land Supply is 
2.63 years. This is marginally higher than when it was last published in the 
2020/21 Annual Monitoring Report, at which point the Council had 2.46 years 
supply (as at 30/09/2021). 

Implications 

5 Legal Implication(s) 

5.1 The preparation of a Housing Delivery Test Action Plan is in accordance with 
national planning legislation and paragraph 76 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF).  

5.2 As well as helping to identify and assess causes of under delivery over previous 
years, the Action Plan also helps to identify actions to increase delivery in future 
years which may be helpful to demonstrate that the Council is attempting to do 
so in respect of future planning decisions and appeals.  

6 Financial Implication(s) 

6.1 The preparation of the Housing Delivery Test Action Plan has been met within 
existing budgets. The actions themselves are not considered to have direct 
financial implications as they have been carried forward from the previous 
Action Plan.  

7 Risk Management Implications 

7.1 The publication of the Action Plan demonstrates the Council is seeking to tackle 
under delivery and identifying actions to improve delivery in the future, which 
will assist in respect of future planning decisions and appeals. 

7.2 There are risks associated with not having a five year housing land supply as 
this means that the presumption in favour of sustainable development applies, 

Page 5



and that permission should be granted unless the policies in the NPPF that 
protect areas or assets of particular importance provide a clear reason for 
refusal or the adverse impacts of doing so would significantly outweigh the 
benefits when assessed against the policies in the NPPF as a whole.  However, 
it considered the Council will only have a 5 year housing land supply upon 
adoption of a new Local Plan.   

8 Security & Terrorism Implication(s) 

8.1 There are no security and terrorism implications associated with this report.  

9 Procurement Implication(s) 

9.1 There are no procurement implications associated with this report.  

10 Climate Change Implication(s) 

10.1 There are no direct climate change implications associated with this report.  

11 Link to Corporate Priorities 

11.1 The production of the Housing Delivery Test Action Plan is linked to Priority 3 
(meet the borough’s housing needs). 

12 Health and Wellbeing 

12.1 There are no health and wellbeing implications arising as a result of publishing 
 the Housing Delivery Test Action Plan.  

13 Human Resources 

13.1 There are no human resources implications arising as a result of publishing 
the Housing Delivery Test Action Plan. 

14 Communications and Engagement 

14.1  The Action Plan is required to be published on the Council website.  There are 
no further communication and engagement implications arising as a result of 
publishing the Housing Delivery Test Action Plan. 

16 Equality and Diversity 

15.1 An EqIA was not completed because this report does not propose changes to 
existing service related policies or the development of new service related 
policies.  

Appendices: 

Appendix 1 – Housing Delivery Test Action Plan 

Page 6



 

 

 

Housing Delivery Test 

Action Plan  

 

 

August 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 7



 

1. Introduction 

 

1.1 Paragraph 76 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)1 states that: “where 

the housing delivery test indicates that delivery has fallen below 95% of the authority’s 

housing requirement over the previous 3 years, the authority should prepare an action 

plan in line with national planning guidance, to assess the causes of under-delivery and 

identify actions to increase delivery in future years.” 

 

1.2 The Housing Delivery Test (HDT) is an annual measure of housing delivery which 

compares ‘total net homes delivered’ against the ‘number of homes required’. As the 

Council does not have a recently adopted Local Plan, the number of homes required in 

Welwyn Hatfield is taken from the Government’s local housing need figures, calculated 

using the Standard Methodology. 

 

1.3 Guidance published in January 20222  set out the calculation for the 2021 Housing 

Delivery Test, which included an adjustment to the targets for the years 2019/20 and 

2020/21 to account for potential delays to delivery resulting from the COVID-19 

pandemic. There was a reduction in the period for measuring total homes required; for 

2020/21 the target was for an 8-month period rather than 12 months (resulting in a target 

of 583 rather than 875) and for 2019/20 an 11 month period (resulting in a target of 795 

rather than 868). 

 

1.4 The Government published the housing delivery test results on 14 January 2022, which 

confirmed that Welwyn Hatfield had built 1,486 homes in the period 2018/19 – 2020/21 

against a target of 2,245. 

 

Table 1: Housing Delivery Test 2021 

 

Target (number of 
homes required) 

Completions (net 
homes delivered) 

% of target 
achieved 

2018/19 867 462 53% 

2019/20 795 673 85% 

2020/21 583 351 60% 

Total 2018-2021 2,245 1,486 66% 

 

1.5 Welwyn Hatfield therefore only delivered 66% of the homes required between 2018/19 

and 2020/21, resulting in three consequences: 

 

 As supply is below 95%, the Council again needs to prepare an action plan to assess 

the causes of under-delivery and identify actions to increase delivery in future years. 

 As supply is below 85% (which the NPPF identifies as ‘significant under-delivery of 

housing’) the Council again needs to add a 20% buffer to its five year housing land 

supply, to improve the prospect of achieving the planned supply; 

 As supply has fallen below 75%, the Council is required to continue to apply the 

presumption in favour of sustainable development when determining planning 

                                                           
1 Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government, July 2021, National Planning Policy Framework 
2 Department for Levelling Up, Housing & Communities, Jan 2022,  Housing Delivery Test: 2021 measurement 
technical note 

Page 8



 

applications.  The NPPF3 states that the presumption in favour of sustainable 

development means: “granting planning permission unless (i) the application of 

policies in this Framework that protect areas of assets of particular importance 

provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed or (ii) any adverse 

impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, 

when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole.”  A footnote 

advises that the policies referred to in the Framework include habitat sites, SSSIs, 

land designated as green belt, local green spaces, irreplaceable habitats, designated 

heritage assets and areas at risk of flooding. 

 

1.6 This is the third action plan produced by the Council, which aims to highlight reasons for 

past under-delivery as well as setting out ways to reduce the risk of further under-

delivery in future years.  

 

2. Borough Context  

2.1 Welwyn Hatfield is located centrally within Hertfordshire, and covers an area of 

approximately 130 square kilometres (12,954 hectares). The borough is bordered by 

Hertsmere to the south, St Albans to the west, North Hertfordshire to the north, and East 

Hertfordshire and Broxbourne to the east. The borough also has a short border with the 

London Borough of Enfield to the south. The population of Welwyn Hatfield at the time 

of the 2021 Census was 119,900 persons (ONS). 

2.2 Around 79% of the borough is currently designated as part of the Metropolitan Green 

Belt – this is a relatively high proportion, reflecting the borough’s extensive countryside 

in such close proximity to London. The towns and villages within the borough are tightly 

constrained by the Green Belt and land can only be re-designated through the adoption 

of a new Local Plan. This has a significant impact on the amount of land in the borough 

that is available for housing development. 

2.3 Looking at data from Land Registry’s House Price Index, average house prices in 

Welwyn Hatfield in 2021 rose to £411,600. This is slightly below average prices in 

Hertfordshire of £423,200, although much higher than both the East of England regional 

(£317,700) and national average (£259,200). 

2.4 The relationship between house prices and income allows a further understanding of 

housing affordability, and is an important factor in the Housing Delivery Test as the 

government’s standard method for calculating housing need incorporates an uplift based 

on affordability. This is measured by the ratio of median house prices to median annual 

workplace based earnings. The median workplace based ratio for Welwyn Hatfield saw 

a sharp increase in 2021 (the 18th highest increase of all 330 Local Authorities); with 

median house prices now 12.37 times annual workplace based earnings. This increase 

was a result of a widening gap between house prices and earnings - as median house 

prices saw a reasonable increase of +11%, median workplace based earnings fell by -

8%. The affordability ratio for Welwyn Hatfield remains slightly below both the London 

and Hertfordshire average, however is well above the national average. 

 

                                                           
3 Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government, July 2021, paragraph 11 (d), National Planning Policy 
Framework 

Page 9



 

Figure 1: Housing Affordability: ONS Ratio of Median House Prices to Median Workplace 

Based Annual Earnings 

Source: Office for National Statistics (ONS) 

 

3. Local Plan Update 

 

3.1 Adoption of the new Local Plan would release new land for development. As mentioned 

in paragraph 2.1, a large proportion of the borough is designated Green Belt (79%) and 

can only be re-designated through the adoption of a new Local Plan. 

 

3.2 The Welwyn Hatfield Draft Local Plan was submitted for examination in May 2017. It 

contained a target to build 12,000 homes over the period 2013 – 2032, of which around 

half were on Green Belt land. During the examination, the Inspector indicated a need for 

modifications to the plan to increase the housing target in order to meet the objectively 

assessed need for housing (OAN), which at that point was acknowledged to be around 

16,000 homes. A Call for Sites was undertaken in January 2019 and consultation on 

sites promoted through the Call for Sites took place in May/June 2019. 

 

3.3 Following the release of the 2018-household projections in June 2020, the Council 

commissioned a review on the implications of the updated projections on its Objectively 

Assessed Need for housing which was published in September 2020. This was subject 

to consultation which was carried out by the Inspector and consequently examined at a 

Hearing session in February 2021. In a series of reports issued in June 2021, the 

examining Inspector concluded that the new projections represented a meaningful 

change to the OAN, justifying a reduction in the target from 16,000 (800 dwellings per 

annum) to 15,200 (760 dwellings per annum), over the updated 2016-36 plan period. 

 

3.4 At a meeting of the Cabinet Planning and Parking Panel (CPPP) on 13th January 2022, 

members agreed that a strategy to meet an OAN of 15,200 could not be supported. 
Following a further review of the sites available, the Council agreed - in July 2022 - to a 

strategy which would provide 12,775 dwellings over the plan period 2016-2036, of which 

8,517 of these dwellings would deliver over the first ten years following adoption 

(assumed to be in 2023/24). Whilst this would not meet the full entirety of the FOAHN it 

4.00

5.00

6.00

7.00

8.00

9.00

10.00

11.00

12.00

13.00

14.00

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Welwyn Hatfield Hertfordshire London England

Page 10



 

would provide an average of 851 dwellings per annum over the ten years. An early 

review would then consider opportunities to meet the remaining need, which would be 

undertaken in the context of housing need and national policy at the time of the review. 

The Council has now written to the Inspector and is awaiting a response to see whether 

it can proceed to main modifications. 

 

3.5 Despite the Local Plan still being under examination, a number of Draft Local plan sites 

now have either full or outline planning permission, including some sites within the Green 

Belt. As the Local Plan Inspector had indicated that they were sound, it was not 

considered that the granting of permission would undermine the plan-making process. 

There are also a number of planning applications for Draft Local Plan sites which are 

awaiting determination and further applications are anticipated to be received 

imminently.  
 

 

4. Planning Performance & S106 agreements 

 

4.1 The Government sets monitoring targets for 70% of ‘major’ applications to be 

determined within 13 weeks and for 60% of ‘minor’ and ‘other’ applications to be 

determined within 8 weeks, although these timescales can be extended in agreement 

with the applicant. Councils can be designated as failing if they do not meet or exceed 

these targets over a two year rolling period. 

 

4.2 For clarification, ‘majors’ are schemes of 10+ homes or 1,000+ sqm of new floor area, 

‘minors’ are schemes of up to 9 homes or 999 sqm of new floor area and ‘others’ include 

householder, listed building and advertisement proposals. The planning team also deal 

with a significant number of ‘non-countable’ applications such as prior approvals, 

discharge of conditions, as well Welwyn Garden City estate management applications.  

 

4.3 In the two year period from April 2020 to March 2022, the council determined 88% of 

majors, 95% of minors and 89% of ‘others’ within these set timescales or within 

timescales agreed by extension. For applications that were refused, these proportions 

were slightly lower however still met the set targets. 

Table 2: Proportion of Applications Determined within Timescales Apr 20 – Mar 22 

 Apr 20 – 
Mar 22 

  

Determined Approved Refused 
Declined 

to 
Determine 

Total 
Within 

Timescale 
Number 

Within 
Timescale 

Number 
Within 

Timescale 
Number 

Majors  33 88% 26 92% 7 71% 0 

Minors  352 95% 237 92% 112 71% 3 

Others 2038 89% 1558 91% 476 85% 3 

 

4.4 However, looking at the average time taken to determine major applications which were 

subsequently granted consent over the past two years, this was 10.1 months. This figure 

was somewhat higher as a result of including a permission which had been received in 

2015 but due to its location within the Green Belt was awaiting further advancement of 

the Local Plan. When excluding this permission the average time taken to grant 

permission for major applications was 7.3 months.  

Page 11



 

4.5 A large number of applications have extensions agreed on these timescales, for major 

applications determined in the two years this was around 70% of applications, while for 

minor applications this was somewhat lower at 33%. Looking at the most common 

reasons for agreeing time extensions for major permissions, these were ‘further 

consideration’ (34%), ‘awaiting the result of consultations’ (25%), ‘further information 

awaited’ (19%) and ‘legal agreement awaiting completion’ (8%). Whilst timely decisions 

are favourable, extensions can be beneficial where they allow the resolution of any 

outstanding issues rather than the potential refusal of the application. 

 

4.6 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that “Local Planning Authorities 

should consider whether otherwise unacceptable development could be made 

acceptable through the use of conditions” but clarifies that “Planning conditions should 

only be imposed where they are necessary, relevant to planning, relevant to the 

development to be permitted, enforceable and reasonable in all other respects.”  The 

Council aims to ensure that it only applies planning conditions that meet these five tests, 

in response to issues identified by officers or raised by statutory or non-statutory 

consultees. 

 

4.7 The Council has contract arrangements with a legal firm to help prepare legal 

agreements in a timely manner. The Council has also liaised with Hertfordshire County 

Council on a number of occasions to discuss the capacity of their legal team to progress 

agreements in a timely manner. Officers to Welwyn Hatfield and Hertfordshire Councils 

meet on a regular basis to identify upcoming issues and resolve live challenges 

associated with the determination and legal confirmation of planning applications. 

 

5. Delivery of Housing on Council owned land  

5.1 The Council is developing its own land holdings in order to increase the supply of 

housing and has progressed a number of its own schemes since the last published 

action plan including: 

 Minster House, Hatfield – planning permission was granted in September 2020 and 

will result in a net gain of 50 dwellings. The site is now under construction.  

 High View, Hatfield – permission was granted in July 2020 and work is now underway. 

The scheme will deliver 140 net dwellings.  

 1-9 Town Centre, Hatfield – permission was granted in February 2021. The scheme 

will result in a net gain of 71 dwellings.  

 Link Drive, Hatfield – approved subject to S106 agreement. The scheme will result in 

a net gain of 80 dwellings.  

 Schemes at Ludwick Way and the Commons in Welwyn Garden City are both under 

construction and together will result in a net gain of 10 dwellings.  

5.2 In 2019, the Council created housing company (Now Housing Ltd.), a wholly Council-

owned housing company, aimed at providing housing for local people whose needs 

cannot be easily met through the private sector or social rented sector. Now Housing 

currently owns and manages a block of 12 flats in Welwyn Garden City and has been 

reviewing schemes in order to expand this offering. 

5.3 The Council is part of the Hatfield 2030+ Renewal Partnership which has prepared a 

Development Framework and other documents to help identify suitable sites for new 

housing and other types of development.  As an outcome of this work the Council has 

Page 12

https://www.hatfield2030.co.uk/


 

granted planning permission for a number of sites for new homes, including High View 

neighbourhood centre, 1-9 Town Centre and Link Drive car park.  

5.4 In Welwyn Garden City, the Council is leading on a programme of development in the 

Town Centre which will include the provision of new homes. Campus East Car Park is 

being prepared for redevelopment, supported with funding from Homes England Local 

Authority Accelerated Construction Programme. This site has the potential to deliver up 

to 280 new homes.  

6 Past Housing Delivery and Future Housing Supply 

 

6.1 The chart below shows completions and permissions granted in Welwyn Hatfield over 

the last 20 years. The period in 2003-2008, when completions averaged 719 dpa, was 

when the majority of the Hatfield Aerodrome redevelopment took place - contributing 

around 300-400 dpa to completions in these years. In the last six years delivery has 

averaged around 450 dwellings per annum. The higher levels of completions in 2016/17 

and 2019/20 were as a result of student housing completions (where these were 

communal accommodation a dwelling equivalent allowance was made). The high 

number of approvals in 2018/19 and 2019/20 relate to permissions for two strategic sites: 

Broadwater Road West (SDS3) for 1,403 dwellings and an outline permission at North 

East of WGC (SDS1) for 650 dwellings. 

Figure 2: Historic Completions and Permissions Granted in Welwyn Hatfield 

 

6.2 At 31 March 2022 there were 119 sites with planning permission amounting to 3,400 

dwellings. A large proportion (60%) of these dwellings with permission are made up by 

the two strategic sites – Broadwater Road West and North East of WGC (Panshanger). 

There were a further 4 sites amounting to 131 dwellings which have permission 

granted subject to S106 agreement. Whilst this level of supply would in theory meet 

the standard methodology target for over three years, the build out rate at these sites 

will vary depending on the size and complexity of the sites, with the strategic sites 

expected to deliver over a number of years.  

 

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

Approvals (excluding superseded) Completions

Page 13



 

6.3 The site at Broadwater Road West in Welwyn Garden City is now under construction, 

however only 208 dwellings are expected to come forward under the extant 

permission. Two further applications have been submitted in relation to this site and 

are currently awaiting determination. Meanwhile the site at North East of WGC is an 

outline permission and is being delivered by Homes England. The site was originally 

proposed for 650 dwellings in the Submitted Draft Local Plan, however it was later 

proposed that this site be extended and an additional section to the North of the site 

was put forward as a second phase of development.  An outline application was 

submitted in November 2021 for an additional 210 dwellings and 12 Gypsy and 

Traveller pitches and is currently under consideration. A reserved matters application 

was submitted in January 2022 for the construction of the spine road. The site is 

expected to start delivering completions from 2024/25. 

 

Table 3: Sites with permission at 31 March 2022 

 

6.4 Where sites are not owned by the Council, once planning permission has been granted 

there is a limited amount that the Council can do to speed up delivery. Looking at 

housing sites which completed in the Borough between 2017 and 2022, 72% of these 

sites completed within 2 years of planning permission being granted, while 89% 

completed within 3 years. For those that took longer the majority were actually minor 

applications. However, there were also some permissions which formed part of larger 

sites, where other phases of the site were delivered first. 

Figure 3: Number of years taken for sites to complete following being granted permission 

 

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

45%

Complete Year
Granted

Complete 1 year
since granted

Complete 2
years since

granted

Complete 3
years since

granted

Complete 4
years since

granted

Complete 5
years or over
since garnted

Total Sites Majors (10+ dwellings) Minors (less than 10 dwellings)

Sites with permission 
at 31 March 2022 

Permission Granted: 
Construction not yet 

commenced 

Permission Granted: 
Under Construction 

Total with Permission 

  Dwellings Sites Dwellings Sites Dwellings Sites 

Full Permission 333 49 2,154 62 2,487 111 

Outline 913 8 0 0 913 8 

Total 1,246 57 2,154 62 3,400 119 

Page 14



 

6.5 Completions data for 2021/22 confirms that 258 dwellings completed against the 

standard methodology target of 878 dwellings. Therefore the expected Housing 

Delivery Test result for 2022 is 57%, meaning that Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council 

will again be required to produce an Action Plan, apply a 20% buffer to its five year 

housing land supply and presumption in favour of sustainable development will 

continue to apply.  

 

6.6 The last published five year housing land supply position was reported in the 2020/21 

Annual Monitoring Report which showed that the Council had 2.46 years housing 

supply as at 30/09/2022. This position has been updated to the 1st April 2022, at which 

point the Council had a housing supply for the five year period 22/23 – 26/27 of 2,805 

dwellings. Against the standard methodology requirement of 888 dwellings per annum, 

plus a 20% buffer required by the housing delivery test due to under delivery in recent 

years. This results in a housing land supply of 2.63 years. The updated five year 

housing land supply calculation and sites which make up the supply are included as 

an appendix to this report (Appendix 1).  

 

6.7 The Council’s Brownfield Land Register was last updated in November 2021 and is 

available on the Council’s website. The 2021 Brownfield Land Register includes 51 

sites with a total dwelling capacity of 3,676, although some of these sites will have 

since been completed and will be removed from the register when it is next updated. 

Almost all of the sites on the register either already have planning permission granted, 

are Draft Local Plan allocations or were identified through the 2019 Housing and 

Economic Land Availability Assessment (HELAA).  

 

6.8 The table below shows estimated housing delivery over the next five years and 

compares against the maximum standard methodology target for each year. With the 

current supply and anticipated rates of delivery the Council would continue to under 

deliver against the standard methodology. However, if the Local Plan sites that were 

agreed at CPPP and Full Council in July 2022 were to come forward at the estimated 

delivery rates then by 24/25 the Council almost start meet the target. 

 

Table 4: Five Year Delivery Forecast 

  

Standard 
method target 

(maximum) 

 
Current 
supply - 

estimated 
delivery 

Estimated 
Shortfall 
against 

standard 
method 

 Estimated delivery 
including Local 

Plan Sites agreed 
by members in 

July 22 

Estimated 
Shortfall 
against 

standard 
method 

2022/23 888  613 -275  613 -275 

2023/24 892  510 -382  578 -314 

2024/25 891  615 -276  865 -26 

2025/26 892  558 -334  1,423 +531 

2026/27 890  527 -363  1,053 +163 

 

7 Other considerations 

Hertfordshire Growth Board  

7.1 The eleven authorities in the county have created Hertfordshire Growth Board to 

establish long-term vision and objectives and to engage with the Government to agree 

a growth deal to help fund the delivery of new homes, jobs and supporting 

Page 15



 

infrastructure. The Board is supported by Hertfordshire Infrastructure and Planning 

Partnership (HIPP) which seeks to progress joint projects and evidence. As part of this 

process, the Board has created a Housing and Communities task group which is 

looking at sites that could be put forward for accelerated delivery by receiving 

government funding to help overcome any technical or viability constraints to their 

development.  

 

7.2 The Council has secured £10.6 million of Homes England accelerated construction 

funding to help deliver housing projects in Welwyn Garden City and Hatfield town 

centres.  Many of the sites that received this funding in Hatfield now have planning 

permission and are being built-out. 

 

8. Conclusions 

8.1 The Council is progressing with a number of developments and redevelopments of its 

own sites in order to assist in providing much needed homes in the borough. However, 

there are ultimately a limited number of sites in the Council’s ownership, therefore there 

is a large dependency on the private sector for housebuilding.  

8.2 Whilst the Council is meeting time frames for determining planning applications, the 

average length of time to determine these is often longer than these targets due to 

agreed extensions. However, timely decisions are favourable, extensions can be 

beneficial where they allow the resolution of any outstanding issues rather than the 

potential refusal of the application. 

8.3 Once the Council has granted planning permission there is a limited amount that it can 

do to speed up delivery. However, the majority of housing sites do complete within 3 

years of being granted permission and permission lapse rates for housing sites in 

Welwyn Hatfield have historically been low. 

8.4 It is clear that delays to the Local Plan examination have been a barrier to progressing 

delivery of housing in recent years. The borough is highly constrained by the Green 

Belt and therefore there are limited options for housing to come forward without 

allocation in a development plan. A number of sites which have been found sound and 

were agreed by members at CPPP and Full Council in July 2022 would assist in 

boosting the borough’s housing supply. Many of these sites are now ready to progress 

through the planning application process.  

8.5 Whilst recognising the acute affordability issues and much need for new homes in 

Welwyn Hatfield, it remains important to ensure that housing development is 

sustainable, high quality and respects adjoining land uses and its surroundings. The 

actions, aimed at improving housing delivery in Welwyn Hatfield, are set out and 

reviewed on the next page.

Page 16



 

Housing Delivery Test Actions 

Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council’s last action plan was published in March 2021, which identified a 

number of ongoing actions which were carried forward from the 2019 HDT action plan. These actions are 

reviewed in the table below.  

 

 Action Progress/Review  

1 Progress the adoption of 
the Local Plan 

The local plan is still at examination and an update is 
provided in section 3. However, despite the plan not yet 
being adopted. A number of Draft Local Plan sites now have 
planning permission granted, with a number already under 
construction. At the 31 March 2022, 12 Draft Local Plan 
sites had either detail or outline planning permission 
granted, amounting to 2,710 dwellings. A further 3 sites had 
permission granted subject to S106 agreement, which 
amount to 143 dwellings. 

Action 
carried 
forward 

2 Continue to determine 
planning applications for 
housing schemes as fast 
as reasonably possible  

In the two year period 1 April 2020 – 31 March 2022, the 
Council determined 88% of major applications, 95% minor 
applications and 89% of ‘other’ applications within set 
timescales or timescales agreed by extension. See section 
4 for further detail.  

Action 
carried 
forward 

3 Apply the presumption in 
favour of sustainable 
development when 
determining planning 
applications for housing 
schemes  

Presumption in favour of sustainable development is being 
applied in the determining of planning applications.  

Action 
carried 
forward 

4 Continue to consider the 
necessity of planning 
conditions for housing 
permissions 

The Council continues to consider the necessity of planning 
conditions for housing permissions. 

Action 
carried 
forward 

5 Continue to discharge 
planning conditions for 
housing schemes as fast 
as reasonably possible  

The Council continues to discharge planning conditions as 
fast as reasonably possible.  

Action 
carried 
forward 

6 Continue to prepare S106 
agreements as fast as 
reasonably possible/Work 
with HCC to prepare S106 
agreements involving 
contributions for their 
services as fast as 
reasonably possible 

The Council continues to prepare S106 agreements as fast 
as reasonably possible. 

Action 
carried 
forward 

7 Continue to devise, 
submit and determine 
corporate applications for 
new housing  

The Council has progressed a number of its own schemes 
since the last published action plan, as discussed in section 
5.  

Action 
carried 
forward 

8 Work with Hertfordshire 
Growth Board to identify 
funding opportunities for 
accelerated housing 
delivery sites 

The Council is part of the Hertfordshire Growth Board 
alongside key stakeholders including the County Council 
and Homes England.  A key aim of the board is delivering 
the necessary infrastructure to support the growth across 
the county.   

Action 
carried 
forward 

 

 

 

 

Page 17



 

Appendix 1 – Interim Five Year Housing Land Supply Update (at 1st April 2022) 

 

1.1 The last published five year housing land supply position for decision-making was reported in the 

2020/21 Annual Monitoring Report. This showed that the Council had 2.46 years housing supply as 

at 30/09/2021. This interim update sets out Welwyn Hatfield’s five year housing land supply position 

at 1st April 2022. 

 

1.2 National Planning Practice Guidance states that the ‘number of homes required’ for the calculation of 

the five year housing land supply is the housing requirement in Local Plans. However, as the 

borough’s new Local Plan is still under examination and the most recent adopted housing requirement 

figure is more than five years old, the minimum annual local housing need figure should be used. This 

is calculated using the Standard Methodology, which takes national household growth projections over 

a ten-year period as a baseline, then applies an affordability adjustment using the median workplace-

based affordability ratio. Any increase is capped at 40% of the projected household growth. 

 
1.3 Policy guidance, released in February 2019, states that the 2014-based household projections should 

be used as the baseline for the standard method4. Under this methodology the minimum local housing 

need figure for Welwyn Hatfield for 2022/23 is 888 dwellings per annum (this is slightly higher than 

for 2021/22 when the need was 878 dwellings).  

 

Table 1– Five year Housing land supply as at 01/04/2022 

A Housing target 2022/23 – 2026/27 (888 x 5) 4,440 

B NPPF 20% buffer adjustment1 (A x 0.20) 888 

C Housing requirement for 5-year period (A+B) 5,328 

D Projected supply of sites 5-year period (2022/23 – 2026/27) in Table 2 2,545 

E Windfall assumption2 278 

F Non-implementation rate3 -18 

G Actual projected five year supply (D+E+F) 2,805 

Number of years supply (G divided by C, multiplied by 5 years) 2.63 
 

1 The NPPF requires either a 5% or 20% buffer to be added depending on whether an area has seen ‘significant under-
delivery of housing over the previous three years’. This is measured against the Housing Delivery Test, where delivery 
is below 85% of the housing requirement. As Welwyn Hatfield’s completions over the past three years only met 66% of 
the requirement, a 20% buffer has been applied. 
 
2A windfall allowance of 139 dwellings per annum has been made from 2025/26 for completions from future planning 
permissions not yet known about. Further information on the calculation of the windfall allowance is presented in Local 
Plan Examination Documents EX221 and EX276. 
 
3The historic proportion of dwellings granted permission but never built is 3.0%. This is applied to sites which have not 
yet commenced construction. 
 
 

1.4 Against the standard methodology the borough has a housing land supply of 2.63 years. The 5-

year supply is largely made up of sites with planning permissions. A small number of sites which are 

still awaiting s106 agreements have also been included in the supply - these sites are all either draft 

local plan sites or are included on the Brownfield Land Register and are anticipated to deliver within 

the five years. Outline permissions have been included where reserved matters applications have 

been submitted. Further detail on sites included in the Five Year Housing Land Supply is presented 

in table 2 on the next page. 

 

                                                           
4 Housing and Economic Needs Assessment Guidance, MHCLG, Paragraph 5, February 2019.  

Page 18

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-and-economic-development-needs-assessments


 

Summary of sites making up the Five Year Housing Land Supply (2022/23 – 2026/27) 
 
This table includes all sites contributing to the five year housing land supply. It does not include dwellings 
which have been completed, or sites where all dwellings are expected to be completed beyond 2025/26 (i.e. 
outside the five year period). Figures updated as at 1st April 2022. 
 

Site Status 

UC Site with planning permission, under construction 

PG Site with planning permission, not yet under construction 

BLR Site identified on the Brownfield Land Register 

RG Resolution to grant 

 
 

Site 
Planning Permission 

Reference 

Status 
31 

Mar 
22 2

0
2
2

/2
3

 

2
0
2
3

/2
4

 

2
0
2
4

/2
5

 

2
0
2
5

/2
6

 

2
0
2
6

/2
7

 

T
o

ta
l 
5
Y

H
L

S
 

75 Oaklands Avenue 6/2020/0456/FULL UC 9         9 

101 Brookmans Avenue  6/2019/2313/FULL UC 6         6 

11 Brookmans Ave 6/2021/3314/FULL PG -4         -4 

Small Sites x 2 - Under Construction   UC 2 0 0 0 0 2 

Small Sites x 6  - Permission Granted   PG -2 9 0 0 0 7 

Total Brookmans Park     11 9 0 0 0 20 

36 The Ridgeway and land to the rear, 
Cuffley 6/2018/2863/FULL UC 6         6 

Small Sites x 4  - Under Construction   UC 4 0 0 0 0 4 

Small Sites x 6 - Permission Granted   PG -1 6 0 0 0 5 

Total Cuffley     9 6 0 0 0 15 

61 New Road 6/2020/2818/FULL PG -1 9       8 

63-65 New Road 6/2019/1569/FULL UC 9         9 

Small Sites x 2 - Under Construction   UC 2 0 0 0 0 2 

Small Sites x 1 - Permission Granted   PG 0 1 0 0 0 1 

Total Digswell     10 10 0 0 0 20 

High view (Hilltop) SPD Site 6/2019/1067/MAJ UC 36 36 42 26   140 

Former Volkswagen Van Centre Comet 
Way 6/2020/3222/MAJ PG     118     118 

Minster House, Minster Close, Hatfield 6/2019/2086/FULL UC 91         91 

Land at Onslow St Audrey's School 6/2017/1641/MAJ UC 6 37 43     86 

Link Drive 6/2019/2431/MAJ RG     80     80 

1-9 Town Centre 6/2019/2430/MAJ PG   71       71 

Plot 6000, Hatfield Business Park  6/2018/2994/VAR UC 45         45 

South of Filbert Close 6/2019/2162/OUTLINE PG   39       39 

1 Burfield Close 6/2020/3257/MAJ RG     10     10 

Garages at Hollyfield 6/2021/2492/FULL BLR   8       8 

Sylvia Adams House, 24 The Common 6/2020/3226/PN32 PG   10       10 

Andre House, 19-25 Salisbury Square 6/2021/1244/PN11 PG   8       8 

41-43 Town Centre, Hatfield, AL10 0JJ 6/2021/1805/FULL PG   6       6 

14-16 Bishops Rise 6/2018/1883/FULL PG   5       5 

36 Salisbury Square 6/2017/1902/FULL UC 5         5 

Small Sites x 4 - Under Construction   UC 4 0 0 0 0 4 

Small Sites x 13 - Permission Granted   PG -2 14 0 0 0 12 

Total Hatfield     185 234 293 26 0 738 

Page 19



 

Site 
Planning Permission 

Reference 

Status 
31 

Mar 
22 2

0
2
2

/2
3

 

2
0
2
3

/2
4

 

2
0
2
4

/2
5

 

2
0
2
5

/2
6

 

2
0
2
6

/2
7

 

T
o

ta
l 
5
Y

H
L

S
 

Osbourne House Farm, Hawkshead 
Road 6/2021/3304/MAJ RG     17 17   34 

Total Little Heath     0 0 17 17 0 34 

Small Sites x 5  - Under Construction   UC 7 0 0 0 0 7 

Total Oaklands & Mardley Heath     7 0 0 0 0 7 

Small Sites x 1 - Under construction   UC 1 0 0 0 0 1 

Total Welham Green     1 0 0 0 0 1 

Small Sites x 5 - Under construction   UC 10 0 0 0 0 10 

Small Sites x 2 - Permission Granted   PG 0 2 0 0 0 2 

Total Welwyn     10 2 0 0 0 12 

Broadwater Road West SPD Site 6/2018/0171/MAJ UC 208   100 226 226 760 

North East of WGC - Panshanger 6/2018/0873/OUTLINE PG     150 150 162 462 

29 Broadwater Road 6/2019/3024/MAJ  PG   128       128 

Ratcliff Tail Lift Site, WGC 6/2018/3110/MAJ UC 30 29       59 

Land adjacent to 45 Broadwater Road 6/2018/3292/MAJ UC 58         58 

YMCA, 90 Peartree Lane 6/2019/2714/OUTLINE RG   29       29 

37 Broadwater Road 6/2018/2387/MAJ UC 24         24 

Units 1,1a, 3 Swallow End 6/2018/0231/PN11 UC   10       10 

Units 1,1a, 3 Swallow End 6/2019/1172/FULL UC   8       8 

Land behind 140 Ludwick Way 6/2019/1616/FULL UC 6         6 

Small Sites x 6  - Under Construction   UC 15 0 0 0 0 15 

Small Sites x 2- Permission Granted   PG -1 6 0 0 0 5 

Total Welwyn Garden City     340 210 250 376 388 1,564 

Roundhouse Farm 6/2020/2248/OUTLINE PG     55     55 

Northaw House, Coopers Lane, Northaw 6/2019/0217/MAJ UC 11 12       23 

Mill Green Mill, Green Lane 6/2018/0717/MAJ UC 9         9 

St Andrews Care Home 6/2020/1249/FULL PG   7       7 

Small Sites x 15  - Under Construction   UC 22 2 0 0 0 24 

Small Sites x 12- Permission Granted   PG -2 18 0 0 0 16 

Total Rural Areas     40 39 55 0 0 134 

Total Welwyn Hatfield   613 510 615 419 388 2,545 

 
 

Page 20



- 1 - 

Part I 
Main author: Jenny Ponsford  
Executive Member: Cllr Stephen Boulton 
Welwyn West 

 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
CABINET PLANNING AND PARKING PANEL – 6 OCTOBER 2022 
REPORT OF THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (PLACE) 

WELWYN VILLAGE CONSERVATION AREA CHARACTER APPRAISAL AND 
MANAGEMENT PLAN 

1 Executive Summary 

1.1 Under national planning policy and advice by Historic England, Local Planning 
Authorities (LPAs) are required to formulate and publish proposals for the 
preservation and enhancement of conservation areas. LPAs should also consult the 
public and take account of views expressed. 

1.2 A review of the Welwyn Village Conservation Area has taken place.  The review has 
been undertaken by the Council’s heritage consultant, Essex Place Services.  The 
appraisal and management plan is included as Appendix A.   The appraisal 
identifies potential changes to remove areas where designation may no longer be 
justified.   

2 Recommendation(s) 

2.1 That the Cabinet Planning and Parking Panel (CPPP) recommend to Cabinet that 
the Draft Welwyn Village Conservation Area Character Appraisal and Management 
Plan undergo public consultation for a period of six weeks. 

3 Explanation 

3.1 Welwyn village historic core Conservation Area was designated in 2007; there is a 
map of the conservation area extent, but there has been no accompanying 
Character Appraisal or Management Plan. Appendix B contains a map of the 
existing conservation area. 

3.2 The Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) stresses that ‘local planning authorities 
must review their conservation areas from time to time’ (section 69(2) of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. Resources 
permitting, it is advised that every five years is ideal, but review frequency will vary 
according to the development pressures in the local area. Conservation Area 
Appraisal and Management document provide as baseline information for 
applicants to consider when designing or planning new development in Welwyn. 

3.3 The assessment that has been undertaken follows best practice guidance, including 
Historic England’s revised Historic England Advice Note 1 for Conservation Area 
Appraisal, Designation and Management (2nd Edition 2019) and The Setting of 
Heritage Assets (2nd Edition 2017).   

3.4 The draft appraisal seeks to analyse the special architectural and historic interest of 
the Welwyn Village Conservation Area, identifies opportunities for beneficial change 
and the need for additional protection. The draft appraisal also seeks to consider 
and review the Conservation Area boundary which has been in place since 2007. 

Page 21

Agenda Item 8



- 2 - 

3.5 The review of the Welwyn Village Conservation Area and the production of the 
Conservation Area Appraisal and Management Plan are part of a wider aim by 
Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council to preserve or enhance the special character and 
appearance of the Conservation Area as required by the Planning (Listed Buildings 
and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. It will also enable sustainable decisions to be 
taken about its future management. 

Analysis and proposal 

3.6 The draft appraisal sets out key elements which define the special character and 
appearance of the Conservation Area. This includes: 

• Built Environment 

• Topography 

• Land Usage 

• Key Views 

• Landscaping, Open Spaces and Public Realm 

• Traditional/Local Building Materials and Details 

• Beyond the Conservation Area Boundary (significance from the wider 
landscape) 
 

3.7 Several examples are used to highlight the special interest. 

3.8 The next section of the draft appraisal assesses in some detail character areas. 
Most Conservation Areas do not have a uniform character and appearance across 
the area. In many cases different ‘character areas’ or ‘sub areas’ can be discerned 
which have their own unique appearance and characteristics. Their varied character 
tells a story about the history of the Conservation Area and contributes to the 
special character and appearance of the whole. Seven distinct Character Areas 
have been identified for the Welwyn Conservation Area. 

• Area 1 – Manor House and West Manor- draws its character from its use as an 
eighteenth century rectory, with its associated gardens and grounds 
 

• Area 2 – Village Core - characterised by its dense historic built development, 
with the central St Mary’s Church, its commercial buildings and inns, and its 
unusually wide street which is reflective of its historic use as the Great North 
Road 

 

• Area 3 – Mill Lane and Mimram Road - its current character is derived from its 
dense pattern of nineteenth century development along the narrow streets, 
including a number of workers’ cottages and terraced houses 

 

• Area 4 – Allotments - draws its significance from its large area of open land, 
formed by the allotments, and the dispersed settlement around them 

 

• Area 5 - South of the River Mimram - draws its significance from the river itself 
and its residential development, which is grander in scale and set within larger 
plots, orientated towards the River Mimram 

 

• Area 6 - Welwyn Hall Gardens - comprises the modern development of Welwyn 
Hall Gardens and Church Place to the north east of the conservation area 

 

Page 22



- 3 - 

• Area 7 – Parkside - a modern development to the south east of the conservation 
area dating to the mid-1980s 

 

3.9 These character areas are shown in appendix A, section 3. 

3.10 The next section of the draft appraisal sets out issues that make a neutral 
contribution to the area character and identifies opportunities for enhancements.  
Issues in this section include: 

• Car Parking 

• Loss of Architectural Details 

• Treatment of Boundary Walls  

• Access and Integration (suggested enhancement of wayfinding) 

• Inappropriate Modern Development 

• Neutral Contributors of several buildings 

• Public Realm (including street furniture, hard landscaping, open space, trees and 
planting) 
 

3.11 Section 5 recommends proposals for the management of the conservation area, it is 
split into both short and long term management proposals.  It should be noted that 
many of these positive management tools are being applied already.  

• designation of non-designated heritage assets which have been recognised as 
buildings of local architectural or historic interest (these are identified in 
Section 2.7 of the appraisal) 

• as necessary using Local Planning Authority enforcement power in reinstating 
any lost character or architectural features 

• general maintenance of public realm and highways 

• requiring Heritage Statements, Heritage Impact Assessments and 
Archaeological Assessments for applications for new development 

• continued tree management,  recognising that trees that are either located in a 
conservation area or covered by a Tree Preservation Order or planning 
condition already have a degree of protection 

• that any future development be mindful of the local character of the 
conservation area, while at the same time addressing contemporary issues 
such as sustainability and seek schemes which enhance the built environment 
(draft Local Plan policies SADM15 and SP 9) 

• publishing of resources aimed to inform property owners and members of the 
public to communicate the significance of the area and ensure members of the 
public are aware of the implications of owning a property within a conservation 
area 

• that the conservation area should be reviewed regularly to monitor change and 
inform management proposals. That boundary should be assessed as part of 
this review to ensure it is robust and adequately protects the significance of 
the area (the appraisal and management plan is doing this). 

  

Page 23



- 4 - 

Boundary change 

3.12 The NPPF (2021) states that “When considering the designation of conservation 
areas, local planning authorities should ensure that an area justifies such status 
because of its special architectural or historic interest, and that the concept of 
conservation is not devalued through the designation of areas that lack special 
interest”.   

3.13 The appraisal suggests that the boundary of the area is reviewed to ensure it 
adequately reflects the area’s special architectural and historic interest.  Some 
areas which could be considered for removal from the conservation area boundary 
are:  

• Parkside – modern housing development to the south east of the area  

• Riverside – modern development to the north west of the area  

• Welwyn Hall Gardens and Wendover Lodge – housing development to the north 
east  

• St Mary’s Close – small close of modern housing in the north west of area  

• Ellesfield - twentieth century bungalows 
 
3.14 A plan showing the recommended boundary changes is attached as Appendix B. 

4 Proposed Consultation  

4.1 It is proposed that the Draft Welwyn Village Conservation Area Character Appraisal 
and Management Plan undergo public consultation for a period of six weeks. The 
consultation will take place online using the Council’s consultation portal and 
notification letters will be issues to key stakeholders, as per the Statement of 
Community Involvement (SCI). 

4.2 The appraisal suggests several potential boundary changes to remove modern 
development from the existing conservation area designation. Views on these 
proposed changes will be posed as consultation questions. The results will be 
presented to Council prior to any revision being made.   

4.3 Undertaking consultation will increase the weight attached to the Character 
Appraisal and Management Plan as it will allow the communities views to be 
considered and any necessary revisions made prior to adoption of the document.  

4.4 Next Steps 

4.5 Following the consultation, the appraisal will be amended as required and together 
with a summary of the representations received be reported to CPPP ahead of 
progressing to Cabinet and a meeting of Council.    

Implications 

5 Legal Implication(s) 
 
5.1 There are no direct legal implications associated with this report. The Conservation 

Area Appraisal and Management Plan will be a material planning consideration. 
Following public consultation there are no legal notices or advertising required to 
adopt the appraisal as a statutory planning document, subject to the Council’s own 
policies being adhered to (Historic England Conservation Area Appraisal 
Designation and Management Advice Note 1 (2nd edition) 2019. 

Page 24



- 5 - 

 
6 Financial Implication(s) 

6.1 There are no financial implications arising directly in relation to this report. The cost 
of consultation will be met through existing budgets.   

6.2 Consultation on a boundary change (a reduction) is proposed.  Should the 
conservation area be reduced, the areas no longer in the conservation area would, 
in some cases, gain permitted development rights.  This would allow certain works 
to be carried out without a need for planning consent, any subsequent resource 
saving, for instance in the form of officer time is diminutive.  

7 Risk Management Implications 

7.1 There are no risk management implications arising directly in relation to this report.  
However, having an up to date Conservation Area Character Appraisal and 
Management Plan helps to protect the conservation area from inappropriate 
development. 

8 Security and Terrorism Implication(s) 

8.1 There are no security and terrorism implications arising directly in relation to this 
report. 

9 Procurement Implication(s) 

9.1 There are no procurement implications arising directly in relation to this report.  

10 Climate Change Implication(s) 

10.1 No climate change implications have been identified resulting from this report.  

11 Human Resources Implication(s) 

11.1 There are no Human Resources implications arising directly in relation to this 
report. Consultation will be managed by the planning policy and communications 
teams. 

12 Health and Wellbeing Implication(s) 

12.1 There are no specific health and wellbeing implications associated with this report.   
 

13 Communication and Engagement Implication(s) 
 
13.1 This report seeks approval to consult on the Draft Welwyn Village Conservation 

Area Character Appraisal and Management Plan. The consultation will take place 
online using the Council’s consultation portal. The Planning Policy Team will work 
with the Communications Team to manage the consultation process.  
 

14 Link to Corporate Priorities 
 

14.1 The subject of this report is linked to the Council’s Corporate Plan, in particular 
Priority 4: A sense of community where people feel safe - Design and maintain 
attractive neighbourhoods which our communities can enjoy and take pride in. 

 
  

Page 25



- 6 - 

15 Equality and Diversity 
 
15.1 An Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) was not completed because this report 

does not propose changes to existing service-related policies or the development of 
new service-related policies. 

 
12 September 2022 
 
Jenny Ponsford    
Senior Planning Officer  
 
Matthew Wilson 
Planning Policy and Implementation Manager 
 

Background papers: None 

Appendices 

Appendix A: Welwyn Village Conservation Area Appraisal and Management Plan 

Appendix B: Map of potential conservation area boundary changes to be consulted upon 

Page 26



Welwyn Village Conservation Area
Character Appraisal and Management Plan
Client:
Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council

Date:
August 2022

P
age 27



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 22

Disclaimer

All reasonable efforts have been made to obtain permission for use of images within this report.  Materials and 
images used in this report which are subject to third party copyright or require reproduction permissions have been 
reproduced under licence from the copyright owner. This is except in the case of material or works of unknown 
authorship (as defined by the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988)  or the copyright holder is unknown after all 
reasonable effort has been made to seek licence to reproduce. 

All maps that appear in this document are under © Crown Copyright. All rights reserved Welwyn Hatfield Borough
Council LA100019547 2022

Any person who wishes to apply to reproduce any part of this work or wishing to assert rights in relation to material 
which has been reproduced as work of unknown authorship in this document should contact Place Services at 
enquiries@placeservices.co.uk 

P
age 28



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 33

Contents

1.0 Introduction 4
1.1 Summary 4

1.2 Conserving Welwyn’s Heritage 4

1.3 Purpose of Appraisal 5

1.4 Planning Policy Context 5

2.0 Welwyn Village Conservation Area 6
2.1 Context and General Character 6

2.2 Origin and Evolution 7

2.3 Designation of the Conservation Area 11

2.4 Wider setting of the Conservation Area 11

2.5 Revisions to the Boundary 12

2.6 Designated Heritage Assets 13

2.7 Non-Designated Heritage Assets 14

2.8 Heritage at Risk 15

2.9 Archaeological Potential 15

3.0 Assessment of Significance 17
3.1 Summary 17

3.2 Character Analysis 24

4.0 Opportunities for Enhancement 53
4.1 Car Parking 53

4.2 Loss of Architectural Details 54

4.3 Boundary Walls 54

4.4 Access and Integration 54

4.5 Inappropriate Modern Development 55

4.6 Neutral Contributors 55

4.7 Public Realm 56

5.0 Management Proposals 57
5.1 Positive Management 57

Undesignated Heritage Assets 57

Enforcement 57

General Maintenance: Public Realm and 
Highways

57

Heritage Statements, Heritage Impact 
Assessments and Archaeological Assessments

57

Tree Management 58

New Development 58

Tall Buildings 59

Neutral Elements 59

Public Facing Resources 59

Improved Understanding and Awareness 59

5.2 Positive Management: Longer Term 59

Boundary 59

Character Appraisal and Management Plan 59

Opportunity Sites 59

 Car Parking 60

5.4 Funding Opportunities 60

6.0 Appendices 61
6.1  Bibliography 61

6.2 Listed Buildings 62

6.3 Legislation and Planning Policy 65

6.4 Glossary (NPPF) 67P
age 29



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 44

1.0 Introduction

1.1 Summary

This Conservation Area Appraisal and Management Plan will provide an overview of the 
designation of the Welwyn Conservation Area, outlining its designation history, alterations to 
the conservation area boundary, and highlighting the special interest of the area along with 
those buildings and features which contribute to its character. Conservation Area designation 
gives broader protection than the listing of individual buildings, as it recognises all features 
within the area which form part of its character and ensures that planning decisions take the 
enhancement and preservation of the quality of the area into consideration. 

The special interest of the Welwyn Conservation Area is predominantly derived from its 
location in the river valley. As a result of its location and surrounding topography, the area was 
settled early and steady concentrated development along the valley has meant that it has 
retained a high density of good quality historic building stock. The river also forms a key 
feature of the village, crossing the conservation area from the north west to the south east, 
and along with large areas of open manorial land, these afford fortuitous views from areas of 
public realm and private gardens throughout. 

1.2 Conserving Welwyn’s Heritage

Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council has appointed Place Services to prepare a Conservation 
Area Appraisal for the village of Welwyn. This Conservation Area Appraisal and Management 
document is provided as baseline information for applicants to consider when designing or 
planning new development in Welwyn and its environs. 

This appraisal provides an assessment of the historic development and character of Welwyn 
and outlines its special interest. This will also consider the significance of individual heritage 
assets and the contribution that these, along with their setting, make to the character and 
special interest of the area. The understanding of significance will be used to assess the 
susceptibility of the conservation area to new development and highlighting key heritage 
assets of importance.

This assessment will consider how different character areas within Welwyn came to be 
developed, their building styles, forms, materials, scale, density, roads, footpaths, alleys, 
streetscapes, open spaces, views, landscape, landmarks, and topography. These qualities can 
be used to assess the key characteristics of each area, highlighting potential impacts future 
developments may have upon the significance of heritage assets and the overall character of 
Welwyn. This assessment is based on information derived from documentary research and an 
analysis of the individual character areas.

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF 2021) highlights good design as one of twelve 
core principals of sustainable development. Sustainable development relies on sympathetic 
design, achieved through an understanding of context, the immediate and larger character of 
the area in which new development is sited.   

This assessment follows best practice guidance, including Historic England’s revised Historic 
England Advice Note 1 for Conservation Area Appraisal, Designation and Management (2nd 
Edition 2019) and The Setting of Heritage Assets (2nd Edition 2017). 

P
age 30



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 55

1.3 Purpose of Appraisal

This document should be used as a baseline to inform future development and design with 
regard to the sensitivities of the historic environment and its unique character. 

It is expected that applications for planning permission will also consult and follow the best 
practice guidance outlined in the bibliography. 

Applications that demonstrate a genuine understanding of the character of a conservation 
area are more likely to produce good design and good outcomes for agents and their clients. 
This appraisal will strengthen understanding of Welwyn and its development, informing 
future design.

1.4 Planning Policy Context

The legislative framework for conservation and enhancement of Conservation Areas and 
Listed Buildings is set out in the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
(HMSO 1990). In particular Section 69 of this act requires Local Planning Authorities to 
designate areas which they consider to be of architectural and historic interest as Conservation 
Areas, and section 72 requires that special attention should be paid to ensuring that the 
character and appearance of these areas is preserved or enhanced. Section 71 also requires 
the Local Planning Authority to formulate and publish proposals for the preservation and 
enhancement of these areas. National planning policy in relation to the conservation and 
enhancement of heritage assets is outlined in Chapter 16 of the Government’s National 
Planning Policy Framework (DCLG 2021).

The Welwyn Conservation Area is located within the Borough of Welwyn Hatfield. Current 
local planning policy is set out in the saved policies (2008) of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 
(2005) which will eventually be superseded by the new Local Plan, however, the  policies 
within the Draft Local Plan Proposed Submission (August 2016) are relevant to consider. The 
policies relevant to heritage assets, good design and the Welwyn area itself include:

Welwyn Hatfield District Plan Saved Policies:
R24 – Character Appraisals and Enhancements
R27 – Demolition of Listed Buildings
R28 – Historic Parks and Gardens
R29 – Archaeology 
D1 – Quality of Design
D2 – Character and Context
D3 – Continuity and Enclosure
D4 – Quality of the Public Realm
D5 – Design for Movement
D6 – Legibility
D7 – Safety by Design
D8 – Landscaping
D9 – Access and Design for People with Disabilities
D10 – Public Art
OS1 - Urban Open Land

Draft Local Plan Proposed Submission Policies:
SADM 6 – Shopfronts, Advertisements and Signage
SADM 15 – Heritage
SADM17 - Urban Open Land
SP 9 – Place-making and High Quality Design
SP 11 – Protection and Enhancement of Critical Environmental Assets

P
age 31



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 66

2.1 Context and General Character

Welwyn is an ancient settlement located in the northern half 
of the borough of Welwyn Hatfield, west of the modern A1 
within the valley of the River Mimram. It is centred round a 
ford at a bend of the river, and named for the trees which 
once flanked the riverbank, ‘Welwyn’ meaning ‘at the 
willows’ in Old English.1 The village is located between three 
hills to its north, east and south-west (Danesbury, Lockleys, 
and the Frythe). The highest ground within the village is on 
the south-west side at over 400ft. 

There is no sign of planned settlement in Welwyn, with 
evidence suggesting that the village built up gradually along 
the High Street between the river and the church, and along 
Church Street.2 The village is now centred around  four 
streets; High Street, Church Street, Mill Lane and Prospect 
Place. It is varied in its architectural style, with the historical 
core including a significant number of listed buildings. 

1  J.E.B. Gover, Allen Mawer, and F.M. Stenton, The Place-Names 
of Hertfordshire, Cambridge University Press (1938)
2  English Heritage, Extensive Urban Survey – Hertfordshire (2005)

2.0 Welwyn Village Conservation Area

Figure 1 Welwyn Conservation Area 2022 within its wider setting ©Google Earth

P
age 32



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 77

2.2 Origin and Evolution

The following section provides an overview of the history of the settlement of Welwyn Village 
and its surrounding landscape. Welwyn has its roots in the Iron Age though earlier 
archaeological evidence from prehistory has been identified. 

Prehistory: Palaeolithic to Iron Age (c.10,000 BC to 100 BC)
Welwyn’s location, in the valley of the River Mimram, has meant it has been the location for 
human activity since prehistory. Scattered Palaeolithic stone tools have been found across the 
area of Welwyn. Hand axes and other tools have been recorded near the Fulling Mill (HHER 
2734), at various places along the valley and near Welwyn Mill (HHER 2782, 2915, 10392), and at 
Digswell (HHER 0640).3 Mesolithic finds are not as common; however some are noted near 
Fulling Mill (HHER 2734), and it is likely that more exist along the river valley in line with 
Mesolithic finds across Hertfordshire. Neolithic finds however are largely absent.

There are more significant numbers of Bronze Age finds around the village of Welwyn;  
indicating that settlement was becoming more established during this time. Flints and a 
tanged arrowhead were recorded during the excavation of the Dicket Mead Roman villa, near 
the river (HHER 4164), a hoard of socketed axes and lumps of copper were discovered in the 
grounds of Danesbury (HHER 0639), and Bronze Age round barrows or burial mounds were 
sited to the west of Woolmer Green (HHER 7687-9) and Digswell (HHER 7932-3).4

As is typical of Hertfordshire, early Iron Age finds are less evident across the area, although 
Middle Iron Age pottery has been recorded (HHER 9267), as have late Iron Age enclosures in 
the wider landscape around Welwyn. It is however evident that substantial development in 
Welwyn did not begin until the second century BC, located on the higher ground south-west 
of the river crossing.5

3 English Heritage, Extensive Urban Survey, ibid.
4 English Heritage, Extensive Urban Survey, ibid.
5 English Heritage, Extensive Urban Survey, ibid.

Late Iron Age and Roman (c50 BC to cAD 450)
Late Iron Age scattered settlements occupied the Welwyn area from the first century. 
Contemporary cremation burials indicate that Welwyn was of much greater importance than 
the settlement evidence has so far revealed: the imported grave goods (amphorae and silver 
and bronze vessels from Italy, fine pottery from Gaul) of the ‘chieftain graves’ found at 
Prospect Place in 1906 (HHER 0158), and the Mardleybury amphora burial (HHER 0411), 
indicate wealth and connections with the Roman world.6  This and the Welwyn Garden City 
burial are the richest in Hertfordshire, and imply the presence in the area of powerful local 
chieftains.

In Roman times, Welwyn was located on the major road which crossed the Mimram, travelling 
from Verulamium to Braughing and Colchester. The settlement was small and compact, and 
was likely to have been an estate village rather than a town, owned and controlled by the villa. 
Unlike many settlements on villa estates elsewhere, this one was located on the highway. The 
bath house was discovered in 1970 in Welwyn during excavations for the A1 motorway (Figure 
2). It formed part of a third century farm or villa. The bath-house has been preserved in situ, in 
a vault beneath the A1(M).7 

A second villa, which included a hypocaust and possible gate-tower was discovered in the 
grounds of the Manor House on the western edge of the Conservation Area in 1906.  
Excavation in 2001 has established that the occupation area extended as far as West Manor, 
and probably beyond it.  Further below-ground archaeological remains can be anticipated in 
this area

6 English Heritage, Extensive Urban Survey, ibid.
7 Arthur Jones, Shire County Guides: Hertfordshire, Shire Publications (1993)

P
age 33



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 88

Figure 2 Roman Bath House Excavation (HRO Photo Archive)

Saxon and Medieval
Saxo-Norman sherds, late Saxon coins, a probable hoard 
(HHER 2843) and a coin minted c.1050 (HHER 4165) have been 
recorded within the area, and support the idea of a high-
status late Saxon nucleus on the road by the river crossing.8 
There is also evidence that two watermills existed at Welwyn 
in the late Saxon period; these are likely to be Welwyn Mill 
itself (HHER 7040) and the ‘Fulling Mill’ (HHER 5781).9 

Medieval Welwyn saw a resurge in development, and is 
considered to be a ‘new start’ for the village after the small 
Roman settlement fell into ruin. Welwyn is recorded in the 
Domesday Book (1086), where it is described as a large 
settlement of 42 houses; these were likely dispersed across 
the four main estates at this time, of which the principal ones 
were the Rectory manor (HHER 10840), a moated manor sited 
in the valley bottom close to the mill, and Mardley manor, 
whose manorhose was located outside the Conservation 
Area at Mardleybury. The Roman road continued to be used 
throughout this period. The medieval period saw the arrival 
of further manorial sites, including  Lockleys and The Fyrthe. 
These estates remained intact into the post-medieval period 
and prevented expansion of the village until the 20th century.

Welwyn mill (HHER 7040) is first referred to in the late 
thirteenth century, and was included in a list of the property 

8 English Heritage, Extensive Urban Survey, op. cit.
9 Rumble, A., Domesday Book, Phillimore, Chichester (1983)

belonging to the Rectory manor in 1461.10 It appears always 
to have functioned as a corn mill.

The village built up gradually along the High Street between 
the river and the church, and along Church Street. By 1287 a 
record of a ‘Thomas at Brig’ implies that a bridge across the 
river Mimram was already in place.    There was at least one 
inn in the High Street, this was The Swan, first mentioned in 
court rolls in 1352 (it was renamed the Wellington in 1816 ).  
Guessens, at the start of the road to Codicote, was a farm 
recorded from the fourteenth century and next door was a 
house on the site of Ivy Cottage from 1425, while the first 
recorded building on the site of Holly Hall, opposite the 
church, was built in 1430. In 1443 John Thebregge was 
granted a licence to build a forge (HHER 10860) on the east 
side of the High Street, at the corner of what is now Mimram 
Walk. 

The main surviving elements of medieval Welwyn are the 
parish church, the old rectory, and the mill.11

10  British History Online, ‘Parishes: Welwyn’, in A History of the 
County of Hertford: Volume 3, ed. William Page (London, 1912), pp. 
165-171
11 English Heritage, Extensive Urban Survey, op. cit. 

P
age 34



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 99

Post Medieval
The predominant post-medieval development within the area 
comprises of the emergence of further manorial sites and alterations 
to the road network. 

The emergence of the Great North Road in the sixteenth century 
amalgamated smaller existing roads in the area, altering the historic 
landscape. The approach into Welwyn from the south, over Digswell 
Hill, was difficult, due to the slope.  It came steeply down Welwyn Hill, 
which became increasingly sunken and muddy as traffic increased, 
across the bridge into the High Street, and turned at the church into 
Church Street, running into a surviving length of the Roman road as it 
left the village. The Welwyn Turnpike Trust, set up in 1725, attempted 
to improve this section with tollgates and milestones. The branch road 
to Codicote and Hitchin left the main route at the turn by the church. 
This road was also taken in hand by the Trust, which repaired it in 1746 
and provided milestones. 

Some endeavours were made to utilise the new improved access to 
Welwyn by Dr Young, to create a spa within Welwyn.  The Assembly 
Rooms were built by Dr Young as part of this commercial venture.  
However the ‘Welwyn Spa’ died with Dr Young in 1765, and by 1832 
the assembly rooms had been converted into a house. 

The village never fully developed its potential as a coaching stop on 
the  the new route, despite the increase in public houses, as its manors 
prevented major expansion outwards. Until the early nineteenth 
century much of the block of land bordered by the High Street, 
Church Street, and Mill Lane was occupied by the farmyard, pasture, 
orchard and garden of the medieval rectory, and Mimram Walk was 
Farmyard Alley. 

Sixteenth and seventeenth century development lines the main 
streets of the village, following Church Street, Codicote Road, High 
Street, Mill Lane, Prospect Lane and School Lane. These were 
predominantly timber framed cottages and houses, with some shops 
and inns catering to the passing trade. 

Many of the prominent medieval structures of Welwyn were later 
replaced with eighteenth century buildings, such as the Rectory 
Manor and Mill. The ‘Manor House’ was built as a new rectory in 1789 
the Old Rectory in Mill Lane being considered no longer suitable 
(Branch Johnson 1967, 35-6). It is a red brick building of two to three 
storeys and a cellar, and was extended to north and south in the mid 
nineteenth century. It ceased to be the rectory in 1920 and is now 
divided into several properties. Much of its extensive grounds remain.

 The present Mill House is predominantly late eighteenth century red 
brick, with some elements of seventeenth century and early 
eighteenth century in the south wing. A barn and other structures at 
one time straddled the river, but these have gone and the mill pond 
has been drained.

The Drury and Andrews 1766 Map (Figure 3), Bryant’s Map of 
Hertfordshire 1822 (Figure 4) and the first edition Ordnance Survey 
Map 1881 (Figure 5) demonstrate the compact development of the 
village, with Lockley Park bounding it to the east and the Rectory to 
the west. Bryant’s Map and the 1881 OS Map also highlight the 
introduction of the eighteenth-century Danesbury Park to the north. 
While there was no outward expansion at this time, as indicated on 
these maps, there is evidence that development occurred within the 
village core. In the early nineteenth century housing density was fairly 

Figure 3 Drury and Andrews 1766 (HRO)

Figure 4  Bryant’s Map of Hertfordshire 1822 (HRO)

P
age 35



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 1010

Figure 5  Ordnance Survey Map 1881 Figure 6 Ordnance Survey Map 1923

P
age 36



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 1111

low, and properties were set within generous plots; the High Street was also 
widened at this time, c.1810, and the building line set back, creating a more 
spacious core. However, there was a subsequent rise in population in the first 
half of the nineteenth century, which resulted in gradual infill within the 
village, predominantly surrounding the regraded Welwyn Hill.12 

Modern
Historic maps demonstrate that until the twentieth century, Welwyn village 
was confined to a compact area within the valley of the River Mimram, and on 
the slopes of the higher ground to the north and south. When compared with 
Figure 5, the 1923 Ordnance Survey Map (Figure 6) highlights that there was 
little development in the early twentieth century. The Mill building was 
demolished in 1912 following the death of the last miller.

Welwyn began to grow after the building of the by-pass in 1926, and later 
twentieth-century development took place along Prospect Place, and north 
of Lockley Drive and Church Street. It has also been bypassed by the A1(M) 
motorway, and is now overshadowed by its much larger neighbour to the 
south, Welwyn Garden City. 

2.3 Designation of the Conservation Area

Welwyn village historic core Conservation Area was designated in 2007; there 
is a map of the conservation area extent, but there has been no 
accompanying Character Appraisal or Management Plan.

12 English Heritage, Extensive Urban Survey, op. cit.

2.4 Wider setting of the Conservation Area 

The wider setting of Welwyn is largely suburban, with surviving areas of 
original agricultural land largely limited to the north-west of the conservation 
area and to the east of the A1(M).  

The Welwyn Bypass Road and the A1(M) form the predominant eastern 
setting to the conservation area, with large roundabouts to the northeast  
and south east of the village. The Dicket Mead Roman villa (SM List Entry No. 
1015580) is also located to the east of the area. The listing includes two 
components of the substantial Roman Villa complex, uncovered in the 1960s, 
comprising of the Welwyn Roman Baths located underneath the A1(M) and 
extending to a second area of scheduled monument which includes the 
visible and buried remains of the Roman villa.

There has been substantial twentieth and twenty first century development 
within the setting of the conservation area, predominantly in the north, south 
and west, which forms the remaining setting to the conservation area. Some 
older municipal buildings exist within the later development, such as the 
former school building on London Road, however development here is 
comprised largely of contained estate development. These are often 
interspersed with green spaces, wide verges and established planting.     

P
age 37



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 1212

Figure 7 Potential Revisions to Conservation Area Boundary

±0 50 100
metres

Suggested areas to
consider for removal
from the Conservation
Area

Existing Conservation
Area

2.5 Potential revisions to the Boundary 

As part of this review of the conservation area and the public 
consultation it is suggested that the boundary of the area is 
reviewed to ensure it adequately reflects the area’s special 
architectural and historic interest.

The NPPF (2021) states that “When considering the 
designation of conservation areas, local planning authorities 
should ensure that an area justifies such status because of its 
special architectural or historic interest, and that the concept 
of conservation is not devalued through the designation of 
areas that lack special interest”.

Some areas which could be considered for removal from 
the conservation area boundary are: 
• Parkside – modern housing development to the south 

east of the area
• Riverside – modern development to the north west of 

the area
• Welwyn Hall Gardens and Wendover Lodge – housing 

development to the north east 
• St Mary’s Close – small close of modern housing in the 

north west of area
• Ellesfield - twentieth century bungalows

P
age 38



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 1313

2.6 Designated Heritage Assets

There are 52 Listed Buildings within the Conservation Area 
(see Appendices 6.2).  Of these, one is grade II* listed, 
Guessens on Codicote Road; the remainder are grade II listed 
(Figure 8). 

Figure 8 Designated heritage assets

P
age 39



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 1414

2.7 Non-Designated Heritage Assets

There are a number of non-designated buildings and 
structures within Welwyn which contribute positively to the 
conservation area. These buildings and structures have been 
identified as non-designated heritage assets as they are 
considered to be good examples of their type or 
architectural style, demonstrating use of local materials or 
design features, are all relatively complete in their survival 
and illustrate the development of the settlement. Of these 
buildings, there are some which are considered to be key 
buildings of townscape merit. These are prominent local 
landmarks of high architectural quality, which are often 
connected to designers, local historical events, activities or 
people, with the potential for inclusion on a local list or for 
designation. These are highlighted within each Character 
Area and depicted within Figure 9 and identified below:

• Gothic House, 23 Church Street
• North Lodge, Lockley’s Drive
• Workers’ cottages No. 16-28 on Mill Lane

The Gothic House, located on Church Street, forms a key 
building within the conservation area, and makes a positive 
contribution to the character of the area due to its unusual 
facade. It is two storeys in height, constructed in striking 
polychromatic brickwork with gault brick banding and 
striped door surround, window jambs and heads. It is well 
proportioned and symmetrical in its design. The building is 
typical of high Victorian Gothic, nineteenth century 
architecture, but a unique facade within Welwyn. 

±0 50 100
metres

Conservation Area

Listed Building

Key Buildings of
Townscape Merit

Positive

Neutral

Negative

Figure 9 Non-designated Heritage Assets

P
age 40



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 1515

The North Lodge is located on the junction of Lockelys Drive 
and Church Street, in a prominent corner plot position, forming 
the terminating view east along Church Street.  The lodge 
marks the former drive to Lockleys, and was designed by Sir 
Edwin Lutyens.13 It is a red brick building under a red clay tile 
roof, and is two storeys with a storey and a half height southern 
wing with hipped roof dormer. The central bay is of 
architectural interest and contains a semi-circular window with 
decorative brick arch and keystone detail above pilasters. The 
building is of historic and architectural value, a well preserved 
examples of Lutyens work in a prominent location in the street 
scape. 

The nineteenth century expansion of Welwyn is perhaps best 
appreciated on Mill Lane, where nos. 16-28 make a positive 
group contribution to the street. They adjoin the grade II listed 
Vineyard (8-14), and relate to this designated heritage asset in 
terms of their architectural style, use and development phase.  
They are significant in the contribution they make to the 
densely built, nineteenth century terracing on Mill Road as well 
maintained examples of workers’ cottages, and for the positive 
contribution they make to the adjoining listed buildings.  

13 Tony Rook, Welwyn Archaeological Society 2014

2.8 Heritage at Risk

The grade II Listed Rose and Crown Public House, Former 
Coach House on North Side of Car Park (List Entry No. 1100957) 
is currently at risk of deterioration (Figure 10). This seventeenth 
century former coach house is in a poor state of repair, and 
works are required to maintain the building and find a 
continued use for it; it is currently vacant, so at risk of further 
deterioration.

2.9 Archaeological Potential

Fieldwork has been undertaken within Welwyn since the 1940s, 
largely concentrated on the area of the medieval settlement 
and the A1 junction. During excavations for the A1(M1) in the 
late twentieth century, excavations revealed a variety of 
archaeological deposits including a Bronze Age ring ditch, the 
Roman baths and a deserted medieval settlement.14 Further 
archaeological deposits can be anticipated within the historic 
core and the river valley.  Waterlogged deposits may well be 
present close to the river, and in deeper features such as wells 
and cess-pits.  Soil-conditions are variable, but Lewes Chalk 
deposits are conducive to the preservation of faunal remains. 
Artefacts such as ceramics, building materials and metal survive 
in chalk. 

14 Murray J. A1(M) Motorway Widening, Junctions 6-8: an archaeolog-
ical evaluation, Hertfordshire Archaeological Trust reports (1993)

P
age 41



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 1616

The location of the Roman road and the extensive Roman 
deposits to the south and southeast, including the villa and 
baths, would suggest that Welwyn formed part of a wider 
Roman landscape. Although the village will have been 
extensively altered, particularly within areas of modern 
development,   cut features and shallow stratigraphy in open 
areas, such as back gardens, has the potential to exist within 
the present urban area.

The buildings in Welwyn, both listed and unlisted, represent 
an important resource in understanding the history and 
character of the town.  Welwyn retains the appearance of a 
‘historic’ town.

Figure 10 South elevation of the Former Coach House on the North Side of The Rose and Crown

P
age 42



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 1717

3.1 Summary

Introduction
The special interest of Welwyn is derived mainly from its siting at the river 
crossing-point (the reason for settlement at this location) and its high 
density of quality historic buildings, many of which are now listed. Historic 
development is largely concentrated within the rectangle of streets 
comprising of High Street, Church Street, Mill Lane and Prospect Place. 
Development was contained within this area largely due to the nature of 
the landscape, with the topography and river forming natural boundaries, 
as well as the prominent manorial sites which historically surrounded the 
village. 

Built Environment 
The late medieval and post-medieval building stock is in good condition 
throughout the village; as such, a number of buildings make a positive 
contribution to the area. These, along with neutral, negative and listed 
buildings, are highlighted below within each character area. 

The buildings within the core of the village, following Church Street, High 
Street and Codicote Road are of high density, although set back slightly 
from an unusually wide road. The road has historically been widened, most 
recently to the north of the conservation area which was widened in the 
1970s, with the frontage of the stable block which formerly served 
Guessens rebuilt further back following the new building line. Despite the 
width of these roads, they are still notable for the sense of enclosure 
created by the density of buildings with their frontages on the pavement 
edge. St Mary’s Church forms a prominent building at the junction of 
Church Street, High Street and Codicote Road, and provides a break in the 
built street scape as well as a terminating view north on the High Street.

There are a high number of commercial buildings and inns located in the 
core of the village, with varied architectural styles. These buildings typically 
extend to the pavement edge, and range in their historic building material 
and height, contributing to a varied and interesting street scene. More 
prominent buildings, both in terms of their height and architectural 
detailing, typically terminate views of streets, such as the Wellington Inn on 
the High Street, The Lodge on Lockley’s Drive, St Mary’s Church, and the 
White Hart on Prospect Place. 

While the main arterial roads are wide, a number of smaller roads and 
walks cross the conservation area. These are located predominantly within 
the centre of the conservation area, to the south of the larger routes of the 
High Street and Church Street. These streets are orientated to follow the 
topography of the valley, with Mill Lane and Mimram Road leading down 
to the River Mimram, and Prospect Place following a ridge that largely runs 
parallel to the river affording access to the river for properties here. 
Residential buildings tend to be two storeys in height, constructed in red 
brick and often painted in a bright colour palette of whites and creams. 
Original features and simple architectural details have been retained on 
the majority of residential buildings, including windows, doors and roof 
coverings, which contribute to the group value of the building stock here. 

The group value of the building stock is evident throughout the 
conservation area through the lively and varied streetscapes, which are 
interspersed with streets formed of high quality terraced cottages. 

3.0 Assessment of Significance

P
age 43



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 1818

Topography
The topography of the area is significant in creating fortuitous views within, from, and into 
the conservation area. The gradual incline from the valley outward creates a varied roofscape, 
and allows for glimpses across roofs and down thoroughfares, often including key buildings 
such as St Mary’s Church. The topography also contributes in allowing for views of greenery 
and mature planting on the high points surrounding the conservation area (Figure 11). These 
create a sense of a rural setting, which contrasts to the dense, urban centre, providing a green 
backdrop to the built environment.

Land Usage
The conservation area predominantly comprises of residential buildings, with commercial 
buildings and inns concentrated in the historic core along the High Street and Church Street. 
There are also some public amenities located along the arterial street within the village. Key 
examples include: St Mary’s Church, located in a prominent position within the conservation 
area, set to the north of the junction of Church Street, High Street and Codicote Road; the 
Doctors Surgery at the south end of the High Street; and the allotments on Lockley’s Drive. To 
the west of the conservation area is the Manor House and its extant manorial grounds, 
providing a further example of the historic land use of Welwyn. 

Key Views
Key views are identified on Figure 12. Note the views included are a selection of key views; this 
list is not exhaustive and there are numerous other views of significance. Any proposals for 
development within the conservation area, or its environs, should consider the views below 
and any others which may be relevant or bespoke to that proposal. It is also notable how 
these views alter in character between winter and summer months which must be taken into 
account.

Figure 11  View south along High Street with distant treeline visible above buildings

P
age 44



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 1919

1. From the church out
2. From the Manor out
3. From the bridge up High Street
4. From the bridge over the river
5. From London Road north
6. From the allotments south
7. From the junction of the High 

Street, Codicote Road and 
Church Street out

Figure 12 Views Map

Key View Indicator

1

2

3
4

4

5

67
7

7

P
age 45



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 2020

Landscaping, Open Spaces and Public Realm
There are several key areas of green space within the conservation area, shown on Figure 16. 
These make a positive contribution through their visual appeal, their contribution to the 
verdant character and setting of the village, and the communal value they bring. 

The allotments (5 on Figure 16) have been identified as an area of Urban Open Land (UOL 12 
on Welwyn Hatfield Policy Map, in relation to Policy no. SADM17). These are located within 
the heart of the conservation area, on low ground north of the River Mimram (Figure 13). The 
allotments form a large area of well-maintained land providing a key communal space for the 
village. There is value in the green space the allotments offer, creating a pleasant area from 
which views into the conservation area are varied and of interest due to the topography. To 
the west, they look onto the uniform backs of housing along Mill Road and the attractively 
irregular development and high red brick garden walls of Orchard Road. To the north and 
south, the sloping topography allows for views of streets, with staggered rooflines. This 
provides interesting views of rooflines and established planting on the brow of the hill to the 
south. 

The manorial grounds and gardens which surround the River Mimram to the north west of 
the conservation area (1 on Figure 15) are also identified as an area of Urban Open Land (UOL 
11 on Welwyn Hatfield Policy Map, in relation to Policy no. SADM17). This area makes a 
positive contribution to the conservation area as a historic area of open space which allows 
for the river to be appreciated and for interconnecting views between the manor grounds 
and historic core. 

The churchyard of St Mary’s Church is an area of positive green space in the core of the 
historic settlement (2 on Figure 16); the churchyard comprises of some mature trees, 
hedgerows and high quality street futniture. This is also reflected in the War Memorial, 
located to the south of the churchyard and enclosed by maintained hedgerows (3 on Figure 
16). These areas provide key areas of public realm of communal and historical value to the 
village. 

Figure 13  View South over the allotments

Figure 14  Planted junction of Lockleys Drive and 
Church Street

Figure 15 Bank of River Mimram  to the north west

P
age 46



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 2121

Figure 16 Key Open Spaces

Throughout the conservation area there are also frequent 
areas of green space in the form of verges and planted 
banks, particularly along London Road (7 on Figure 16) and 
Lockleys Drive (4 on Figure 16). These areas of green space 
and planting contribute to a varied, verdant street scape. 

The area surrounding the bridge on the High Street is also 
notable as a pleasant area of public realm, which reveals 
the river as a key feature of the conservation area (6 on 
Figure 16). Benches allow for visitors to appreciate the 
water’s edge, which is fairly concealed by the built 
environment otherwise, and a bust of Vincent Van Gogh 
celebrates the village’s association with the family through 
his sister, Anna (Figure 18). Vincent Van Gogh visited the 
school his sister taught at, now the listed Ivy Cottage on 
the High Street (List Entry No.  1100963).

There are a number of smaller green spaces dispersed 
throughout the conservation area, including planted 
mini-roundabouts at road junctions (Figure 14), and private 
gardens. These all make a positive contribution to the area. 
The village is dense in its built development, with building 
lines typically extending straight onto a narrow pavement; 
the green elements of the conservation area, therefore, 
soften the built character and provide welcome areas of 
well-maintained, valuable green space. 7

P
age 47



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 2222

Traditional/Local Building Materials and Details
The building stock in Welwyn is predominantly traditional, Hertfordshire red brick, often 
painted in a palette of whites and creams, with some earlier timber frame rendered buildings 
and stock brick terracing. Decorative brick banding and detailing around apertures are a 
common architectural feature, along with some quoin detail on larger buildings. 

Roofing materials are typically slate and clay plain tiles, and the roofscape formed of largely 
uninterrupted roof planes, with chimneys and some small dormers particularly on School 
Lane. Windows and doors are of a good quality throughout the conservation area, and are 
predominantly timber. 

Boundaries are also of a high quality throughout the area, and are typically of red brick, iron 
railings and hedges, with some timber fencing in places. 

Beyond the Conservation Area Boundary
The conservation area draws significance from the wider landscape. The area is bounded 
largely by modern, suburban development, including the main roads to the east, and 
housing estates to the north, south and west. The topography of the valley, however, creates 
a green setting to the village itself, often shielding views of these urbanising features from the 
conservation area. While these features are not visually connected, the additional roads are 
significant in their contribution to the growth of the village. 

While the topography of the valley often shields views of the wider setting, the open fields to 
the north of the Manor House and West Manor make a positive contribution to our 
understanding of the historic development of the settlement. These manorial grounds 
enclosed the village and prevented its expansion east. The agricultural fields to the north, 
therefore, allow us to appreciate this historic development and setting of the village, and the 
impact of the manor.

The Scheduled Dicket Mead Roman villa (SM List Entry No. 1015580) is located to the east of 
the area, underneath and to the east of the motorway,  it includes the villa itself and the 
Welwyn Roman Baths located underneath the A1(M).  The Scheduled area would form only a 
portion of a wider Roman landscape comprising farm buildings, fields and cemeteries.   

Figure 17 War Memorial and Public Realm Space on 
Church Street

Figure 18  View south west of river from garden at The 
Wellington Inn

Figure 19 Bust of Vincent Van Gogh located by the 
bridge

P
age 48



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 2323

There has been substantial twentieth and twenty first century 
development within the setting of the conservation area, 
predominantly in the north, south and west, interspersed with some 
older municipal buildings including the former school building and 
Union Workhouse on London Road. This development is often 
interspersed with green spaces, wide verges and established planting, 
which contribute to a verdant character. 

There is an area of substantial green space to the north of the 
conservation area at Singlers Marsh, a designated Local Nature 
Reserve. From the conservation area, the marsh is reached via a bridge 
over the river on Fulling Mill Lane and extends north west following 
the river bank. The marsh is regionally significant as a site to appreciate 
and understand the chalk river Mimram and lowland flood meadows, 
providing a habitat for a wide range wet meadow flora and fauna.15 It 
also provides a tranquil open space within a short distance of the 
village centre; there is a comprehensive information board at the 
entrance gate to welcome visitors and provide a brief history of the 
Welwyn area and the significance of the river and marsh to the Welwyn 
settlement. 

15 Natural England, Designated Sites View, [https://designatedsites.natu-
ralengland.org.uk/SiteLNRDetail.aspx?SiteCode=L1460438&SiteName=sin-
glers%20marsh&countyCode=&responsiblePerson=&SeaArea=&IFCAArea= ]

Figure 20 View east along Church Street highlighting variety of building materials and features

Figure 21 Looking north over Singlers Marsh

P
age 49



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 2424

3.2 Character Analysis

Figure 22  Character Areas

P
age 50



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 2525

Area 1 – Manor House and West Manor

This area draws its character from its use as an 
eighteenth century rectory, with its associated 
gardens and grounds. The site became the 
location of the new Rectory in 1798, when the 
medieval rectory manor site in the valley 
bottom was deemed no longer suitable.  This 
property and its accompanying manorial 
lands bounded the village to the west, 
restricting development in the valley. It is 
located on the slope west from the river, 
affording views into the village.  It had been 
renamed the Manor House by 1920.

Figure 23 Character Area 1

P
age 51



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 2626

Layout and Building materials
The Manor House grounds are bonded to the west by a high fence, 
hedgerow and mature tree belt, and to the east by the River Mimram; 
the manorial buildings are located on the high ground to the west of 
the area to afford for views across the valley towards the village. A 
modern road, Ellesfield, runs approximately along the line of the 
carriage drive. The few buildings within the area, including the Manor 
House and its ancillary outbuildings, are predominantly red brick with 
slate roofing.

Boundary treatments
The Manor complex is surrounded by a strong, largely impermeable 
boundary. This includes areas of tall timber fencing and mature 
boundary planting, with high hedges and red brick walls marking 
entrances to the complex (Figure 24 and Figure 25). This creates a 
sense of enclosure and separation from the surrounding settlement 
which provides this area with a distinct character to the other parts of 
the conservation area.

Views
Outward views to the north, west and south within this character area 
limited, with most views confined within the area due to the 
landscape, high boundary treatments and topography. This is 
contributes to the unique characteristics of this character area, with 
designed internal views and views towards the river valley forming a 
key feature of the site.

Individual Listed Buildings
The Manor House and West Manor forms the principal building of the 
character area. This large, grade II listed house dates to c.1800, and is 
red brick with blue brick headers on extensions and slate roofs (List 

Entry No. 1348194). It has a slightly projecting centre with deep 
Roman Doric porch having curved entablature and mutuled cornice. 
This building is described as a rectory on the 1884 Ordnance survey 
Map, and was divided into two properties in 1920.16 It is now divided 
into three dwellings; West Manor House, South Manor House and East 
Manor House.

Other buildings and structures that make an important 
architectural or historic contribution 
The Coach House is shown on the 1884 Ordnance Survey Map, and is 
located south of The Manor. It is a red brick, nineteenth century 
building, which makes a positive contribution to the character area as 
a building associated with the manorial complex. 

In 1906 the construction of a croquet lawn revealed the remains of a 
substantial Roman building, probably a villa, in the grounds of the 
Manor House.17  Excavation in 2001 has established that the 
occupation area extended as far as West manor, and probably 
beyond it.  Further below-ground archaeological remains can be 
anticipated in this area.

Important trees and open spaces 
Mature planting within the park contributes to the parkland character 
of the area, and the open space provides views into the historic core 
from the park. 

16 HHER (16099) https://www.heritagegateway.org.uk/gateway/Results_Sin-
gle.aspx?resourceID=1008&uid=MHT16099 
17 HHER (1556) https://www.heritagegateway.org.uk/gateway/Results_Sin-
gle.aspx?resourceID=1008&uid=MHT1556

Figure 24 South entrance to the Manor and Coach 
House

Figure 25 North entrance to the Manor

P
age 52



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 2727

Area 2 - Village Core

The village core comprises of Codicote Road, 
the High Street and Church Street, following 
the main thoroughfare through the village. 
The area is characterised by its dense historic 
built development, with the central St Mary’s 
Church, its commercial buildings and inns, and 
its unusually wide street which is reflective of 
its historic use as the Great North Road.

The modern houses on Riverside are also 
included in this area. 

Figure 26  Character Area 2

P
age 53



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 2828

Streetscape and building materials
The village core is characterised by its variety of architecture and 
densely built streetscape. Buildings here range in their architectural 
style, material, massing, and range from one to three storeys in 
height. This creates an interesting and varied streetscape, with views 
from the central junction of Codicote Road, the High Street and 
Church Street providing the most prominent point to appreciate the 
streetscape of the village centre. 

The streets are unusually large after being widened in the early 
nineteenth century, which balances the enclosed character of the 
village and provides enhanced views of the principal elevations of 
the buildings despite their position at the pavement edge. The 
streetscape along the High Street is defined and dominated by the 
retail and commercial units fronting the street and their largely 
traditional timber shopfronts and signage. The four modern houses 
on Riverside differ in character but from here glimpsed views are 
afforded of the historic buildings along Codicote Road.

Hertfordshire soft red brick is the predominant building material 
interspersed with examples of smooth and roughcast render, 
painted brick and yellow stock brick. The flint and stone church 
stands in contrasts with the more vernacular building materials and 
emphasises its status. Slate and clay plain tile are characteristic roof 
coverings, and traditional timber windows and doors are important 
features throughout the area. Historic shopfronts can be found 
along the High Street, with modern shopfronts largely constructed 
of timber with traditional detailing.

Land use
The village core is predominantly comprised of commercial 
buildings and inns, with St Mary’s Church in the centre and dispersed 
residential buildings throughout. 
Boundary treatments
While there is not much need for boundary treatment throughout 
the majority of this area, as the building line runs along the 
pavement edge, there are some houses which are set back from the 
pavement behind brick walls and iron railings. These are of high 
quality, and make a positive contribution to the character of the area. 
There are two grade II listed walls within this character area. These 
comprise the grade II listed ‘Walls, Railings And Gates to Churchyard’ 
of St Mary’s Parish Church (List Entry No. 1100956), an exemplar of 
the historic boundary treatments in the village core, constructed in 
the mid to late nineteenth century of red brick with cast iron railings, 
and the grade II listed Garden Wall And Barn At Number 1 (List Entry 
No. 1348163), an eighteenth century red brick garden wall.

There are some other notable boundary treatments in the area, 
including the high red brick curved wall of the grade II listed 13 
Church Street (List Entry No. 1100959), the iron railings of grade II* 
Guessens (List Entry No. 1100961), and the high red brick walls to the 
north of Codicote Road (Figure 29). These boundaries are 
characterised by their use of red brick, iron railings and hedgerows, 
which make a positive contribution to the historic character of the 
village core. The high red brick walls on Codicote Road are 
particularly notable for the contribution they make in creating an 
enclosed character, which makes a positive impact to the area in 
providing a ‘gateway’ to the village. The dense, red brick 
development here, along with the red brick boundaries, clearly 
defines the beginning of the historic village and juxtaposes from the 
wide grass verges beyond the conservation area to the north.  

Figure 27 West side of High Street

Figure 28 View west along Church Street

P
age 54



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 2929

Figure 30 Church of St Mary, eastern elevation

Views
This area comprises of the following changing views: 
• Continual views of the church tower throughout conservation 

area, particularly along Codicote Road, the High Street, and 
London Road;

• Terminating views of key buildings, such as The Lodge on 
Lockleys Drive and The Wellington on the High Street;

• Quickly changing views of the streetscape along the High Street, 
Codicote Road and Church Street, due to the varied architectural 
styles and massing; and 

• The topography of the area, together with differing building 
heights, gives layered views throughout Codicote Road and the 
High Street.

• There are limited outward views when within village core, due to 
the building density and enclosed character.  

Individual Listed Buildings
Entering the conservation area from the north along Codicote Road, 
a number of listed buildings line the road to the west. The first, 
Guessens, is a Grade II* seventeenth century house with possible 
earlier origins (List Entry No.  1100961). The main block comprises 
three storeys with 5 recessed sash windows in plain, raised surrounds, 
with later extensions.  The site was the home of the poet and 
dramatist Dr Edward Young from 1730 – 1765, who played a role in 
the historic development of Welwyn. 

Adjacent to Guessens is the former village school, now Number 1 Ivy 
Cottage (List Entry No. 1100963). The Grade II listed building 
comprises of seventeenth century or earlier timber framed and 
chequered red brick structure with a later rear wing forming an L in 
plan. It has a steep pitched plain tile roof. A local plaque on the south 

elevation of the cottage reveals that the house was built in c.1452, 
and was the school where Anne Van Gogh, sister to Vincent Van 
Gogh, taught in 1875-6.

Lining the eastern boundary of Coldicote Road are two Grade II listed 
buildings comprising the Grange and Parish Church of St Mary. The 
Grange, (List Entry No. 1175068), which dates to the eighteenth 
century, is a red brick house, L-shaped in plan, with a slate roof to the 
front and a plain tiled steep pitched roof to rear. The Parish Church of 
St Mary, dates to the thirteenth century with extensive later additions 
including a tower and a new nave (List Entry No. 1174971). The 
structure is largely constructed of flint with stone dressings and a 
machine tile roof. The tower is crenelated with an octagonal stair 
turret and gargoyles. As Pevsner notes, the church has been heavily 
restored and altered throughout the late nineteenth and the 
twentieth centuries, impacting its original historic character.18 Church 
House was completed in 2007, to provide meeting space and 
amenities for the church; it is located to the north of the church, 
largely concealed from view from the street.

To the west, The Wellington Inn Hotel (List Entry No. 1348186) is a 
prominent, early seventeenth century timber framed public house 
with a red brick frontage and a rendered jettied gable with semi-
circular window to the centre under a plain tiled roof (Figure 28). 

Following the junction with Church Street along the High Street, the 
listed buildings continue in a similar vein being timber frame 
construction with red brick frontages and are all Grade II listed. They 
largely date from between the seventeenth and nineteenth centuries 
and their significance is enhanced by their group value.

18 Pevsner, Hertfordshire

Figure 29 Red brick walls and hedgerow boundaries to 
the east of Codicote Road, with iron railings to the west

P
age 55



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 3030

Further south, no. 3 is the Bakery, comprising house and shop (List Entry No. 1175170) dating 
to the seventeenth century with a nineteenth century frontage. Further along is the small 
sixteenth century house, Number 11A, with a plain tiled roof, red brick frontage and large end 
chimney stack (List Entry No.  1100931). At the junction with Mimram Place, Number 29 forms 
the corner and is finished in roughcast render with a plain tile hipped roof (List Entry No. 
1175176).

Continuing along the eastern side of the High Street, nos. 2 (List Entry No. 1100927), 4 (List 
Entry No. 1100928) and 10 are all Grade II listed and each date to the sixteenth/seventeenth 
century. Each is timber framed with a white render and a  fish scale tile roof apart from 
Number 10 (List Entry No. 1100929) whose finish is roughcast render with a plain tile roof. 

Church Street forms a junction with the High Street and Codicote Road, leading to the east; 
the western half of Church Street comprises almost entirely of Grade II listed buildings dating 
from the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries. 

Adjacent to the modern development on the former site of Wendover Lodge  is Number 9, a 
house with a seventeenth century core and later eighteenth century casing with vitrified 
brick headers. It is roofed with plain tiles and has a half-timbered gable (List Entry No. 
1175021). 

On the other side of Holly Hall Court is no. 13, a circa 1800 painted brick house with a plain tile 
roof with dentil eaves cornice (List Entry No. 1100959). The central pedimented projection 
contains an open pedimented doorcase with Doric square wooden piers. Adjacent to this, 
fronting Church Street is an early nineteenth warehouse and shop, no. 15, comprising of a 
long range of painted brick with a low slate roof (List Entry No. 1348201). No. 17 comprises a 
two storey timber framed seventeenth century building with an early eighteenth century red 
brick front is now painted with a plain tile roof (List Entry No. 1175043). 

Figure 31 The Wellington Inn and Hotel

To the north of Church Street, adjacent to the church, is Old Church House (List Entry No. 
1174994). Dating to the sixteenth century this timber framed, two storey building has an 
elevation to the churchyard with red brick nogging and a deeply jettied upper floor (Figure 
31). It is rendered with a plain tile half hipped roof. 

P
age 56



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 3131

The Rose and Crown Public House is a timber framed 
seventeenth century structure with roughcast render and a 
steeply pitched plain tile roof (List Entry No. 1348199). The 
former coach house, now storehouse, sits behind the Rose and 
Crown and this again dates to the seventeenth century and is 
likely contemporary (List Entry No. 1100957). It comprises a 
rectangular two storey structure of red brick with parapet 
gable ends and a first floor band. This structure is currently in a 
poor state of repair, as highlighted in section 2.8. 
Opposite Lockley’s Drive are the final three listed buildings 
along Church Street.  All Grade II listed, the buildings all derive 
from the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries and are timber 
framed with brick frontages. The first, Rose Cottage, is one 
storey with attic and has a gabled cross wing on its west side 
(List Entry No. 1175002). A local plaque highlights the houses’ 
association with the Van Gogh family, as Anna Van Gogh’s 
place of residence. The second, no. 24, is a sixteenth century 
house with an early nineteenth century brick frontage under a 
plain tiled steep pitched roof with gable end to the west (List 

Entry No. 1348200). The final building within the historic core 
of Church Street is no. 28, The Old Chequers, which is formerly 
a seventeenth century inn with potentially earlier origins (List 
Entry No.  1175014). The house is timber framed with a gable 
end front range in brick with roughcast render, with 
interesting detailing to the south east corner (Figure 33).

Other buildings and structures that make an important 
architectural or historic contribution to the street scene 
The Gothic House (Figure 34), located on Church Street, makes 
a positive contribution to the character of the area due to its 
striking polychromatic brickwork with gault brick banding and 
striped door surround and window jambs and heads, typical 
of Victorian architecture but unique to the area. 

Important trees and open spaces
The churchyard forms a key, central open space within the 
conservation area. The mature planting to the north of the 
churchyard provides a green backdrop to the Church of St 
Mary, and contributes to the historic semi-rural character of 
the village core. The planting within the churchyard softens 
the built environment, and the hedgerow forms a pleasant 
boundary to the space, creating a clear area of green space 
within the densely built surroundings (Figure 35). 
Other areas of open space are smaller, such as the grass verge 
on Codicote Road to the north of the area; however this 
contributes in forming a wide entrance to the conservation 
area and leading the pedestrian into the built historic core. The 
gardens of the Wellington Inn and Guessens are also a key area 
of green space with mature planting leading down to the river 
valley. These form a swathe of green space which contributes 
to these grander scale properties and brings the river into the 
historic core, strengthening our understanding of the historic 
development of Welwyn. 

Figure 32 Church House from within the Churchyard Figure 33 Wall art on the Old Chequers Figure 34 Gothic House, Church Street

P
age 57



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 3232

Detracting elements
It is considered that, in its current condition, the grade II listed former coach 
house on the north side of the car park at the Rose and Crown (Listed Entry 
No. 1100957), detracts somewhat from the public house complex. This 
would be easily rectified with some maintenance work to the building. 

Suggested potential boundary changes
The Riverside development to the north west of the area comprises of 4, 
detached, modern houses, which are sympathetic in their style and set with 
generous planting.

However, they form a separate, modern character from the conservation 
area and lack historic interest. They are also located some distance from the 
village core. It may be appropriate to remove them from the conservation 
area boundary.

Figure 35 Planting in the churchyard

Figure 36 The river from the Wellington Inn garden, 
looking north

P
age 58



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 3333

Area 3 – Mill Lane and Mimram Road

This area comprises development within the 
rectangle formed by Mimram Road, Mill Lane, 
the River Mimram, and the back of dwellings on 
Church Street. Until the early nineteenth century 
this area was occupied by the farmyard, pasture, 
orchards and garden of the medieval Rectory 
Manor.  Its current character is derived from its 
dense pattern of nineteenth century 
development along the narrow streets, 
including a number of workers’ cottages and 
terraced houses. The Old Rectory  (Grade II listed 
23-25 Mill Lane, List Entry No. 1175300) and its 
associated building (Grade II listed 21 Mill Lane, 
List Entry No. 1348191) are located in the centre 
of the character area and act as a visual 
reminder of its origins.   

Figure 37 Character Area 3

P
age 59



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 3434

Streetscape and building materials
The streets within this area have an enclosed character; the 
building line often extends to narrow pavements and roads, 
contributing to this sense of enclosure. Buildings here are 
predominantly brick, exposed or painted in a bright palette, 
with a strong rhythm to apertures and original sash windows 
often retained. Despite the high density of buildings, there is a 
strong sense of greenery in the area, the streetscape often 
interspersed with private planting in the form of climbing 
plants, hanging baskets, planters, and in some cases clipped 
hedges and planting. The result is a pleasant but crowded 
residential streetscape.

Buildings here, particularly along Mill Lane, are simple in their 
architectural style, reflective of their origin as workers’ 
cottages and as historic infill within the grounds of larger 
houses. This simple detailing is of good quality, comprising 
predominantly of brick features including flat-headed gauged 
brick lintels and decorative door surrounds.

To the south of Mimram Place, building materials which are 
unusual to the character and wider conservation area can be 
found. These include weatherboarding, concrete roof tiles, 
and a higher number of plastic windows.

Boundary treatments
To the north east of Mill Lane, cottages often front directly 
onto the road, with steps leading from the front door onto the 
pavement; this leaves little room for boundary treatment. To 
the north west of Mill Lane, properties are set within larger 
plots and set back from the street; these dwellings have strong 

boundary treatment. These predominantly comprise of low, 
red brick walls, which encase planted plots. Some frontages 
have been paved for parking, however these are softened by 
extensive planting. 

Further south, buildings are within larger plots and set much 
further back from the street. The White Horse has no formal 
boundary, and has paved its front for parking. A modern 
property opposite the public house contains a concrete 
pebbled front garden, which is out of keeping with the 
character area.

The former Assembly Rooms have retained a strong boundary 
treatment, with high hedges and fencing. Where the close 
board timber fencing is softened by vegetation, such as the 
frontage of the former Assembly House, this is in keeping with 
the historic character of the area. However, where fencing is 
tall and visually impermeable, this is out of keeping and forms 
a visual interruption to the streetscape, such as the fence 
between the properties of the former Assembly House.

Mimram Walk, connecting Mill Road to Mimram Place, 
contains a row of terraced buildings which have retained a 
strong boundary treatment and low brick walls (Figure 36). 
 
The north side of Mimram Place continues this pattern, with 
properties either fronting straight onto pavements or 
retaining a strong boundary treatment where set back. To the 
south, however, the frontages of modern largely provide 
parking areas and detract from the streetscape (Figure 40).

Figure 38 Boundary treatment at south of Mill Lane

Figure 39 Boundary treatment within the Mimram Walk, connecting 
Mimram Road to Mill Lane

P
age 60



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 3535

Land use
The area here is dominated by residential buildings, with the 
exception of the White Horse public house. It has historically 
comprised of residential development, with some of the older 
buildings forming a complex with the Old Rectory, and the 
former Assembly Rooms providing entertainment for 
eighteenth-century polite society. 

Views
This area comprises of the following changing views: 
• Enclosed and crowded views of the streetscape, 

including views north and south along Mill Lane and 
Mimram Road; 

• Views over irregular residential development along 
Mimram Alley; and

• Terminating views of established planting beyond the 
area on the crest of the hill to the south.

There are limited outward views when within the area, due to 
the building density and enclosed character.  

Individual Listed Buildings
Mill Lane North 
On entering Mill Lane from the north, the Vineyard forms a 
striking row of well-preserved cottages (List Entry No. 
1100936); it includes no. 8-14 and is Grade II listed. Dating from 
1821, the houses are built of yellow stock brick with a low slate 
rood and two storeys in height (Figure 38). 

Further south to the west side of Mill Lane are no. 13 and 15 
which have early nineteenth century white rendered casing 
on an earlier timber framed building (List Entry No. 1100937). 

Continuing along the eastern side of Mill Lane, all listed 
buildings are Grade II listed. The first house before Orchard 
Road is The White Horse Public House (List Entry No. 1175255). 
Dating to the seventeenth century, this timber framed inn has 
a roughcast render front with early nineteenth century details 
and a low pitched slate roof. 

No. 32 Mill Lane, which is partly located along Orchard Road, is 
the former Welwyn Assembly Rooms which date to 1752 (List 
Entry No. 1348190). The building comprises a timber framed 
interior with a rear wing in red brick with a steep plain tile roof.  

Opposite the former Assembly Rooms, set within the centre of 
the character area, are two grade II listed properties, 23 and 
25, Mill Lane (List Entry No. 1175300) and 21, Mill Lane (List 
Entry No. 1348191). These are two large houses constructed in 
the early sixteenth century, the former being The Old Rectory 
and once a moated site, the other comprising part of the 
complex of the Old Rectory. These timber framed buildings 
(Figure 42) are of higher status, larger in scale and mass, and 
they have retained their historic architectural detailing, 
including exposed timber framing with close studding and 
arched braces. They are set back from the street along a 
private track, and enclosed by mature planting. 

Further south along Mill Road and beyond the junction at 
Orchard Road are the semi-detached houses of No. 40 and 42 
Mill Lane. These buildings date to the early nineteenth 
century, and are constructed of red brick comprising of two 
storeys with plain tile roofs and parapeted gables on moulded 
brick corbels (List Entry No. 1175263). 

Figure 40 South of Mimram Place

Figure 41 Mill Lane terraced cottages

P
age 61



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 3636

Figure 43 6-12, Mimram Road Figure 45  South of Mimram Road

Figure 42 21 Mill Lane Figure 44 Bethel Lodge, Mill Lane

Adjacent to the river is Mill House, a late eighteenth century 
grade II listed house with later wing, constructed of red brick 
under a plain tile roof (List Entry No. 1100938). It is two storey 
and square in plan; the garden wall is also listed. 

Mimram Road
Along Mimram Road is No. 6-12 Mimram Road (Figure 43). 
This grade II listed eighteenth century terrace is of timber 
framed construction with a red brick frontage and a 
rendered plinth to window sill height.

Further along is Mimram Walk, the alley which connects the 
two main streets within this area, where the Ebenezer Strict 
Baptist Church is located (List Entry No. 1100939). This 
building is Grade II listed and dates to 1834. It is constructed 
of brick with painted stucco and a slate roof, and makes a 
positive contribution to the area for its architectural merit, 
communal value, and contribution to our understanding of 
needs of the early nineteenth century community. 

Other buildings and structures that make an important 
architectural or historic contribution to the street scene 
5 Mill Lane makes a positive contribution to the area; it is a 
simple cottage, classically proportioned and symmetrical in 
design with fish scale tiled canopies over ground floor bay 
windows and the central front door, set behind a well-kept 
and planted front garden. The inscription on the façade of 
the house reads ‘Bethel Lodge 1815’ with a Latin phrase 
below Dominus custodiat introitum tuum et exitum tuum, 
translating to ‘The Lord preserve thy going out and thy 
coming in’ (Figure 44).

P
age 62



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 3737

Important trees and open spaces
Mature trees within this area are predominantly located 
within the heart of the area surrounding the sixteenth 
century former Old Rectory complex. Other planting and 
open spaces are dispersed throughout the area, contained 
within tight front garden plots, as seen in Figure 44. 

Detracting elements
It is considered that the modern development to the south 
of Mimram Road is out of keeping with the historic character 
of the area. The development introduces new building 
materials, massing and paving (Figure 45 and Figure 40). 
Pevsner notes that this development is a key example of 
‘unsympathetic infilling’, but that Nos. 40-46 show ‘greater 
sensitivity to their settlement’.19

19 Pevsner, op. cit.

P
age 63



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 3838

Area 4 – Allotments

This character area draws its significance from 
its large area of open land, formed by the 
allotments, and the dispersed settlement 
around them. It is rural in its character, with 
views out of the character area incorporating 
stepped historic roofscapes and mature trees in 
the distance.

Figure 46 Character Area 4

P
age 64



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 3939

Streetscape and building materials
Lockleys Drive is the only street that crosses this 
character area. The streetscape is rural in its character, 
with infrequent development and an open character. 
The eastern side of the character area is entered from 
the Welwyn Bypass Road. To the east, Lockleys Drive is 
lined with timber fencing and hedgerows, and to its 
south are the allotments and a large, public car park. 
There are pockets of built development on Lockleys 
Drive, one being a small development of modern, red 
brick bungalows set back from the street behind a large 
area of planted green space. Further west, the Welwyn 
Parish Council buildings are set behind a hedge and 
fence and comprise of a small complex of single storey, 
timber clad buildings. Their dark colour palette is 
uncharacteristic of the conservation area, although it 
allows them to blend in with their planted surroundings 
and so they are sympathetic to the rural character of 
this area. The modern, red brick public toilets are 
located behind a large shrub which largely shields them 
from view from the street. The streetscape, therefore, is 
predominantly open, green and rural in character, with 
buildings softened by planting and set back from the 
road. 

To the west of the area, a private road adjoins Lockleys 
Drive to the south providing a more built-up 
streetscape and allowing views towards the backs of 
properties on Mill Lane and Church Street. A number of 
single storey garages are also located here. This lane is 
more urban in character, drawing from the backs of 

residential, cottage development and rear access; 
however some visible planting softens the built 
features.

To the west of the character area, Lockleys Drive joins 
Church Street. The Lodge here marks the termination of 
the character area and once formed the gateway to 
Lockleys Park. It is a prominent building set within a 
large corner plot, behind a low fence with trellising on 
its façade and mature planting behind which softens its 
impact. This contributes to the character of the area, 
historically demarking the change from the village core 
to the entrance of the former park, and now marking 
the rural, open east of the conservation area. 

Boundary treatments
There are few formal boundaries within the area, due to 
the fact that it is dominated by open space and 
allotments (Figure 47). However, where there is 
development, it is often bounded by hedgerows and 
permeable timber fencing, which is rural in character. 

The bungalow development has no boundary 
treatment to its façade, the frontages opening out 
straight onto a green space of public realm. Their back 
gardens are visible from the allotments and are mostly 
bounded by low, timber fencing. There are some 
elements of more urban boundary treatment to the 
west of the area along the private lane, where the backs 
of properties have high, close boarded fences or red 
brick walls. 

Figure 47 Boundary of the allotments

P
age 65



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 4040

Land use
Historically, this area formed the western edge of Lockleys Park. Lockley’s Drive once formed 
the main route into Hertford, however in 1720 the road moved to the west of the village and 
the road became the drive to Lockley Park. It now forms the eastern access to the village core.

The predominant use of land within this area is for public amenities and open space. The key 
areas of public amenity and public realm include the allotments, the Parish Council building, 
the car park, and planted and grassed spaces with benches. There are some areas of 
development, which are mostly residential.

Views
This area comprises of the following changing views: 
• Open views across the allotments towards the back gardens of development on 

Lockley’s Drive and Mill Lane; and
• The topography of the area, together with differing building heights, gives layered views 

to the north and south.

Other buildings and structures that make an important architectural or historic 
contribution to the street scene 
The North Lodge forms the gateway to the area in the west and is a notable building. It once 
stood on the drive to Lockleys, and was designed by Sir Edwin Lutyens (Figure 48). It is a red 
brick building under a red clay tile roof, and is two storeys with a storey and a half height 
southern wing with hipped roof dormer. The central bay is of interest and contains a semi-
circular window with decorative brick arch and keystone detail above pilasters.

Important trees and open spaces
The key open space within this area is formed by the allotments, which dominate this 
character area, and are an important feature of the wider conservation area (Figure 49). They 
are a large, open space, which is well kept by the public, and offer a key area of open space 
within the valley from which outward views are of interest.

Figure 48 The North Lodge

Figure 49 The allotments Figure 50 Public Realm example, Lockleys Drive

P
age 66



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 4141

The trees within the square of the bungalow development, and those around the Parish 
Council and public toilets, are significant in softening the modern development, and 
providing a pleasant area of public realm along with benches (Figure 50). 

Mature trees can also be found within the plot to the north of the area, which historically was 
the location of Wendover Lodge. These trees now form an important feature of the area, the 
rise in topography elevating them further and allowing them to form a green backdrop to the 
Lodge and enhancing the rural character of the area. 

Detracting elements
There are no detracting elements identified for this area.  However the car-parks, the public 
toilets and the parish Council buildings, which are all currently considered being neutral in 
their impact on the significance of the character area, and vital to the overall usage of the 
Conservation Area, need to be maintained, and where possible enhanced, in order to ensure 
that gradual deterioration does not take place. 

Figure 51 Bungalow development and public realm space

P
age 67



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 4242

Area 5 - South of the River Mimram

This area draws its significance from the river 
itself and its residential development, which is 
grander in scale and set within larger plots, 
orientated towards the River Mimram. These 
dwellings are predominantly villas and larger 
houses, with some commercial buildings lining 
London Road towards the village core. The 
south of this area is characterised by its green 
verges and dramatic sloping topography, which 
forms the gateway to the village leading the 
visitor and the eye towards the centre of the 
historic settlement. 

Figure 52 Character Area 5

P
age 68



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 4343

Streetscape and building materials
The streetscape within this area is typically formed by large 
properties along London Road, Prospect Place, and School 
Lane. Buildings predominantly date from the mid eighteenth 
and early nineteenth century, with older sixteenth and 
seventeenth century timber buildings often refronted. 

The south of London Road forms the entrance to the village 
and is characterised by its green, planted streetscape. 
Development here is to the west of the road; however this is 
set on the top of a steep slope and separated by substantial 
planting, differing in character from the road. These buildings 
are large villas accessed along a private track which runs 
parallel to London Road and are located behind high timber 
fencing.

Further north along London Road, the streetscape becomes 
urban in character, with large, commercial buildings 
signalling the route to the village centre. Buildings here are 
typically red brick, either unpainted or painted in bright 
whites and creams, with frontages along narrow pavements. 
The White Hart, a grade II listed building, terminates the view 
north along London Road here and marks a change in the 
streetscape. It is a fine red brick building with simple 
architectural detailing and a parapet on the principal façade. 
London Road then widens as it approaches the bridge over 
the River Mimram, and buildings are set back from the street 
behind planted areas of public realm on the west, with 
building lines extending to the pavement on the east. There 

are views from the bridge along the River Mimram.  To the 
north-east of the bridge is a car park, surrounded by planting, 
and further north a rendered residential development set 
behind a small planted front garden. The streetscape here is 
wide, with sympathetic modern development set back from 
the street front within a close, minimising its impact on the 
historic village character.

Prospect Place joins London Road at the White Hart and runs 
parallel to the River Mimram. Buildings here are a mixture of 
modern brick development of two to three storeys, some set 
behind small gardens and others fronting onto the 
pavement; the majority make a neutral contribution to the 
character of the streetscape. The pattern of development 
here allows for glimpses into the village core to the north, 
with views of treetops and St Mary’s Church tower visible.

Further east along Prospect Place, a row of red brick workers’ 
cottages makes a positive contribution to the street scene. 
The streetscape alters further east, as dwellings become 
larger and set within substantial private gardens, enclosing 
them from the street front (Figure 54). 

Figure 53 Terrace of workers’ cottages, Prospect Place

Figure 54 Parkside and Appletrees

P
age 69



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 4444

Boundary treatments
The larger plots in this area provide room for strong and extensive boundary treatments. 
Consistent with the wider conservation area, boundaries are typically formed either by 
buildings themselves which front the street, by red brick walls or hedgerows (Figure 55). 
These high brick walls and manicured hedges, particularly on the east of Prospect Place and 
along the south side of School Lane (Figure 55), contribute to the character of the area by 
creating a prominent and grand front to the larger buildings located here. 

Land use
The area is largely characterised by its residential buildings, with some commercial elements 
to the north of London Road, and areas of public realm where the River Mimram crosses the 
area. The grade II listed surgery on the High Street also provides public services. 

Views
This area comprises of the following changing views: 
• From London Road towards the historic core, and St Mary’s Church; 
• View north over the bridge to the High Street;
• View from the bridge over the River Mimram; and
• From Prospect Place towards St Mary’s Church.

Individual Listed Buildings
London Road
To the north of London Road, before the River crossing and car park, is Bridge House (List 
Entry No. 1348185), a Grade II listed eighteenth century house of painted brick with a plain tile 
roof. The building is of a high quality and has retained its simple architectural features, 
including six-over-six painted sash windows, and parapeted gable ends with stepped corbels.

Crossing the River Mimram to the south, four grade II listed buildings cluster around the 
southern junction of the High Street with London Road.  South of the river to the west is the 
surgery,  Figure 56 (List Entry No. 1348187). This former house comprises an eighteenth 
century rendered frontage with an earlier timber framed core and a modern two storey 
canted extension. 

Figure 55 Boundary of the White House

To the east, Nos. 28 and 30, which are currently modern shops, date to the early nineteenth 
century and comprise a red and blue brick range with a steep pitched plain tile roof (List Entry 
No. 1100930). To the south of the junction are The White House (List Entry No. 1100942) and 
Oakleigh (List Entry No. 1100932). No. 2 Welwyn School Lane, The White House, is a sixteenth 
century timber framed building with a nineteenth century rendered frontage under a roof of 
old plain tiles and machine-made tiles. Oakleigh dates to the late eighteenth century; it is 
painted brick with a hipped plain tile roof and modillioned cornice. The grade II listed K6 
telephone kiosk (List Entry No. 1100907) (originally designed in 1935 by Sir Giles Gilbert Scott) 
is located at this junction is a well maintained example. 

P
age 70



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 4545

Figure 59 Appletrees

Adjacent to the White House along School Lane is Little Manor Cottage (List Entry No. 
1295334); this grade II listed building comprises two cottages, one sixteenth century and 
timber framed with eighteenth century addition to left. 

Following London Road to the south, there are a number of listed buildings at the junction 
with Prospect Place. To the north of the junction, The White Hart forms the corner (List Entry 
No. 1100941); the grade II listed inn dates to the mid eighteenth century with a rear wing. It is 
constructed partly of timber framing with red brick frontage containing vitrified headers and 
some roughcast render (Figure 58).  

Partly occupied by the White Hart Public House, Number 6 Prospect Place comprises a grade 
II listed eighteenth-century red brick house with a steep pitched modern tile roof (List Entry 
No. 1295332). 

Returning to London Road, Number 4 comprises a brick house with burnt headers dating to 
1729, with a plain tile, double pile roof (List Entry No. 1295405). Along the western edge of 
London Road to the south is Little Chequers, a grade II listed building which dates to the 
eighteenth century (List Entry No. 1348188). The house is two storeys and constructed of 
chequered red brick with a steep plain tile roof.

Further south, and set back from the road at the crest of the hill, are a group of two listed 
buildings. The house and surgery of No. 4 dates to the early nineteenth century; the building 
is red brick with painted channelled stucco and a slate roof, and is two storeys with a wooden 
Greek Doric porch with cornice hood. Adjacent to No. 4 is No. 6 Hobbs Hill, The Rectory (List 
Entry No. 1100933); this buildings dates to the mid nineteenth century, and is constructed of 
yellow gault brick with a low slate hipped rood with plain eaves. 

Prospect Place
Along Prospect Place are two grade II listed buildings, Appletrees (List Entry No. 1175315) and 
Parkside (List Entry No. 1348192). Formerly cottages, Appletrees dates to the late sixteenth 
century and is constructed of timber frame cased in eighteenth century brick (Figure 59). 

Figure 56 Grade II listed Surgery

Figure 57 View south of School Lane and London Road 
junction, including the grade II listed Surgery, Oakleigh 
and telephone kiosk

Figure 58 The White Hart and Number 4

P
age 71



Figure 61 View north along London Road

Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 4646

Parkside, adjacent to Appletrees, is seventeenth century with an early nineteenth century red 
brick extension; it also has a steep pitched plain tile roof with parapeted gables and 
prominent chimneys. 

Other buildings and structures that make an important architectural or historic 
contribution to the street scene 
The bridge forms a key feature within the character area (Figure 60). The red brick structure 
with three arches crosses the River Mimram to the north of the area, providing a point for 
views to the west and east and forming a focal point itself, marking the entrance into the 
village centre. 

Important trees and open spaces
This verdant area includes a number of mature trees and areas of private open spaces, which 
make a positive contribution to the character of the area. Private planting within gardens of 
Appletree and Parkside is well maintained and visible in views to the east along Prospect 
Place; the intricacy of trees and hedgerows here, with clipped hedges and mature planting, 
contribute to the high status character of this area. 

The planting on London Road is also important in signifying the entrance to the village, 
creating a green passage down the valley and towards the church tower and village core 
(Figure 61). This planting predominantly comprises of unkempt shrubs and overhanging 
trees, creating a dense and enclosed character.  
 
The planting at the crest of the hill also provides the wider character area with its semi-rural 
setting, and is therefore important in creating the green backdrop to the historic valley 
village. 

Detracting elements
Modern infill behind the White Hart pub detracts from the historic character of the area and 
inhibits glimpsed views from Prospect Place towards the church and village core (Figure 63). 
The area is uncharacteristic, in that there is no planting to soften the brick façade, and the 
hard surfacing is expansive and irregular.

Figure 60 The Bridge

Figure 62 Modern development to the north of 
Prospect Place

P
age 72



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 4747

Suggested potential boundary changes
Two bungalows on Ellesfield are neutral in their contribution 
to the character and appearance of the conservation area 
being low in height and constructed from red brick. 
However, they lack in special architectural and historic 
interest and it may be appropriate to remove them from the 
conservation area boundary.

P
age 73



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 4848

Area 6 - Welwyn Hall Gardens

This area comprises the modern development 
of Welwyn Hall Gardens and Church Place to the 
north east of the conservation area, the five 
mid-twentieth century houses on St Marys 
Close and the two large buildings of the 
Wendover Lodge development. Welwyn Hall 
Gardens is accessed from Church Road and is 
constructed on the former grounds of Welwyn 
Hall, a large Victorian Gothic house demolished 
in the mid-1990s following a fire. Curved 
cul-de-sacs of terraced and semi-detached 
houses constructed in a material palette 
mirroring the village’s historic buildings with 
areas of greenery, front gardens and boundary 
hedges contribute to an attractive 
development. Two large, modern buildings 
occupy the former site of Wendover Lodge, 
opposite Welwyn Hall Gardens.

6

±0 25 50
metres

Area 6 - Welwyn Hall Gardens

Conservation Area

Significant Buildings

Neutral

Figure 63 Character Area 6

P
age 74



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 4949

Streetscape and building materials
The layout of the Welwyn Hall Gardens development comprises of a series of curving 
cul-de-sacs with the houses arranged as terraces or in pairs set slightly back from the 
pavement edge with front gardens or areas of planting. Church Place is a smaller cul-de-sac of 
houses similar in design. The layout creates an enclosed character and a dense but attractive 
development. The houses are predominantly red brick with some render under clay tile or 
slate roofs. The materials mirror those found throughout the conservation area.

The houses feature pitched roofs reminiscent of the historic building stock of the area and 
architectural details including chimneys, decorative bargeboards and finials to porches, 
dentilled verges and tiled corbels add interest.

On St Marys Close, the houses are characteristic of their mid-twentieth century date featuring 
integral garages, slack pitched roofs, horizontally proportioned windows and tile hanging. 
Two houses here are single storey with a monopitch roof form which adds variety to the 
streetscape.

Two large buildings occupy the former site of Wendover Lodge and are uncharacteristic of 
the conservation area due to their scale, massing and use of a pale red brick.

Boundary treatments
Front boundary treatments largely comprise low hedges and metal railings with some open 
front gardens. Most of the houses feature paved driveways to the front but these are softened 
in their appearance by planting in front gardens. There is some timber close boarded fencing 
along Church Street forming side property boundaries.

Part of the historic boundary wall of Welwyn Hall survives on Church Street. It is red brick in a 
Flemish bond with regular piers and a blue brick, bullnose coping. This makes a positive 
contribution to the character of the area due to its historic interest and aesthetic value.

Figure 64 View of Wendover Lodge plot on the left

Figure 65 Welwyn Hall Gardens

P
age 75



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 5050

The access into the Welwyn Hall Gardens development from 
Church Street is flanked by black metal railings and red brick 
piers with stone ball finials. Green spaces and mature trees 
either side of the entrance contribute positively to the 
appearance of the area. Opposite, the access to the 
Wendover Lodge buildings is flanked by a low brick wall and 
areas of planting.

Land use
The area is comprised of modern residential development. 
The surviving brick boundary wall, name of the 
development and the retention of some mature trees, 
provide some indication of the former use of the land as the 
location of Welwyn Hall. Other than the name, the former 
land use of Wendover Lodge is not apparent.

Views
The principal view in this area is the south west along Church 
Street into the historic core of the village. This view is 
terminated by the historic buildings on the southern side of 
Church Street. The topography of the area also permits 
views of the trees further in the distance, creating a green 
backdrop to the view down Church Street.

Individual Listed Buildings

Milepost 
Located along Church Street to 
the south of the entrance into 
the Welwyn Hall Gardens 
development, is a Grade II listed 
milepost (List Entry No. 
1100958). It is a mid-nineteenth 
century cast iron milepost 
manufactured by Champness of 
Cheshunt. It is triangular in plan 
with a semi-circular top with 
‘Welwyn’ in raised letters. The 
two front faces have recessed 
panels with raised numbers and 
lettering reading: London 25, 
Stevenage 6.

Other buildings and structures that make an important 
architectural or historic contribution to the street scene 
The red brick former boundary wall to Welwyn Hall fronting 
Church Street is of historic and aesthetic interest. It is red 
brick laid in a Flemish bond with regular brick piers and blue 
brick, bull nose coping. It steps to follow the topography of 
the street and a curved section drops to a lower height wall 
to the south of the area.

Figure 66 Listed Milepost on 
Church Street

Detracting elements
Whilst there are some merits to the design of the residential 
development of Welwyn Hall Gardens and Church Place, it is 
considered that the modern development of Wendover 
Lodge and the mid-twentieth century houses on St Marys 
Close are out of keeping with the historic character of the 
area. The development introduces uncharacteristic building 
materials, scale and massing.

Suggested potential boundary changes
Consideration could be given to the removal of this area 
from the conservation area due to a lack of historic and 
architectural interest. The Grade II listed milepost and 
historic red brick wall on Church Street contribute to the 
area’s special interest but the modern development here 
does not contribute positively, although the design of the 
development of Welwyn Hall Gardens and Church Place is 
largely sympathetic. This area is on the peripheral of the 
village both physically in terms of its location and 
topographical difference, as well as characteristically due to 
the self-contained, enclosed nature of the residential 
developments.

P
age 76



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 5151

Area 7 – Parkside

Parkside is a modern development to the south 
east of the conservation area. Dating to the 
mid-1980s, the houses are two storey and laid 
out in staggered terraces along curved cul-de-
sacs. There are some detached houses to the 
north of the area and some freestanding garages 
with paved parking areas. 

The residential development is located to the 
south and east of a Grade II listed building known 
as Parkside (List Entry No. 1348192) which is 
seventeenth century in origin. In part the 
development occupies the former grounds and 
gardens of Parkside between the River Mimram 
to the north and the A1000 to the east.

Figure 67 Character Area 7

P
age 77



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 5252

Streetscape and building materials
The staggered arrangement of the terraces and their layout along curved streets creates a 
varied streetscene. Grass verges with some trees, open front lawns, hedges and paved 
parking areas also feature. The layout creates an enclosed character with the greenery 
providing contrast to the buildings and areas of hardstanding. The houses are predominantly 
pale red or brown brick under concrete pantile roofs. Windows are predominately casements 
in white or brown and some houses feature projecting ground floors under lean-to roofs, 
lean-to canopies over front doors or projecting bay windows.

Boundary treatments
Many front gardens are lawned and open, bounded by planting or low hedges. Some of the 
houses feature paved driveways to the front, or designated parking areas, but these are 
softened in their appearance by planting in front gardens. There are some examples of 
timber close boarded fences or red brick walls forming side and rear property boundaries. 
The communal area of green to the south of the area is bounded by a low timber post and rail 
fence.

Land use
The area is comprised of modern residential development. Other than the name of the 
development, there is little indication that the historic use of part of the land was associated 
with the seventeenth century house of Parkway on Mill Lane.

Views
Due to the enclosed nature of the development and the layout of the houses, there are few 
views from this area into the rest of the conservation area.

Detracting elements
Whilst there are some merits to the design of the 1980s Parkway development, the buildings 
are considered to be neutral in their contribution to the character and appearance of the 
conservation area.

Suggested potential boundary changes
The removal of the Parkside housing estate could be beneficial in better preserving the 
historic character of the area. The housing development is separate in its character and 
development pattern and does not respond to its surroundings but rather creates its own 
modern character. Although neutral in its contribution to the conservation area, it is lacking in 
historic and architectural special interest.

Figure 68 Houses on Parkside

P
age 78



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 5353

The following key issues have been identified and are summarised below in brief. The list is in 
no way exhaustive and neither are the issues identified unique to Welwyn, with many shared 
within other conservation areas.

4.1 Car Parking

Car-parking is an inevitable concern within any historic village settlement, and the same is 
true for areas of the Welwyn Conservation Area. Overall, ample parking space is provided for 
the village, with large parking areas on Lockleys Drive (Figure 69) and the High Street (Figure 
70). 

These parking areas make a neutral contribution to the character of the conservation areas, as 
some care has been taken to supply clear but minimal signage, with public realm features 
such as the notice board and benches. 

Private parking for public houses and inns is typically located behind the buildings, away 
from view, such as at the Wellington and The White Hart. This ensures that the main routes 
are kept relatively free from parked vehicles, and where cars are parked there is still room for 
two lanes of traffic to pass through. The White Horse on Mill Lane may benefit from 
introducing boundary treatment to their parking plot, which is in front of the building and 
therefore impacts on the historic street scape.

Along Mimram Road, however, parking makes a negative impact on the character of the area 
as the road is narrow and parking on street can make access difficult (Figure 71). The rear 
entrance to Tesco is paved here for parking, and there is opportunity to enhance this space to 
integrate it with its surroundings. The paved area to the south of Mimram Road, which is 
currently used for private parking, would benefit from a consistent hard surfacing, planting, 
and sympathetic boundary treatment to soften its impact, which is currently a modern metal 
railing.   

4.0 Opportunities for Enhancement

Figure 69 Lockleys Drive Parking

Figure 70 High Street Parking

Figure 71 Parking on Mimram Road

P
age 79



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 5454

Figure 72 High fencing on Halls Close

4.2 Loss of Architectural Details

While the majority of buildings within the conservation area have 
retained their key, simple historic architectural features which give 
them their character, some have lost their original windows in 
place of plastic windows. These replacements do not replicate the 
high quality detailing of those they replace, resulting in a clunky 
and unsympathetically modern appearance at odds with the finer 
detailing and craftsmanship of historic timber windows. It is 
important to preserve the historic character and appearance of the 
village through the retention of timber windows and the 
replacement of unsympathetic modern windows with timber 
windows.

4.3 Boundary Walls

Boundary treatments form a key feature throughout the 
conservation area, with two grade II listed walls to the north of the 
area. It is considered that some maintenance of the grade II listed 
church wall would enhance the streetscape, as this wall currently 
forms a prominent focal point in views north of the church and has 
deteriorated in some areas. 

It is also considered that some boundary treatments are currently 
out of keeping with the character of the area. High, close boarded 
fencing and chrome metal railings should be replaced with 
permeable timber fencing, hedgerows, red brick walls, iron railings 
or low close boarded fencing where possible. This will ensure the 
boundary treatments make a positive contribution to the area as 
well as improving intervisibility within the area (Figure 72).

Figure 73 Welwyn Heritage Trail

4.4 Access and Integration

Welwyn is a relatively compact village, bounded by the 
topography of the river valley and the historic manorial sites. 
There are few issues regarding access and integration, and 
signage is simple and straightforward throughout the 
conservation area. Key features of interest are clearly 
highlighted throughout the conservation area, through the 
Welwyn Heritage Trail and information boards. However 
there is scope for enhancement in terms of wayfinding 
within the village to signpost key features within its setting, 
such as Singlers Marsh. It is also advised that the Welwyn 
Heritage Trail is regularly checked to ensure that QR links 
work and to keep information up-to-date. 

P
age 80



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 5555

4.5 Inappropriate Modern Development

Modern development within the conservation area has largely been confined to small closes off main 
routes; this has allowed for modern development to have relatively minimal impact on the character and 
appearance of the conservation area. Most of the modern development can be considered as neutral in 
its impact, as it is sympathetic in its design and enclosed in its layout. Some modern development to the 
rear of properties on Prospect Place is considered to impact the historic character of the area, as it 
detracts from the characteristic and fortuitous views from the road to the village core and St Mary’s 
Church.  

Care needs to be taken within the conservation area that windows, doors, roofs and other architectural 
elements are not replaced with those of inappropriate design and materials. The character of the 
conservation area is defined by the historic palette of materials used, and this piecemeal loss of fabric can 
cumulatively have a more significant impact on the character and appearance than any of the other 
concerns. 

4.6 Neutral Contributors

A number of buildings are currently considered to make a neutral contribution to the character and 
appearance of the conservation area. The buildings that fall into this category still contribute to the area’s 
character and appearance, and their contribution should not be underestimated and certainly should 
not be considered negative. Small scale improvement works, such as reinstating boundary treatments, 
planting, appropriate replacement windows and roofs, use of a characteristic colour palette, and 
preventing loss of architectural form and features, would enhance these buildings. Similar interventions 
to the more modern neutral buildings could help to further integrate them into the area. Care needs to 
be taken through the planning process to ensure that neutral buildings do not become negative through 
inappropriate alterations and additions, particularly within the modern development The Green, where 
planting and boundary treatment currently soften the uncharacteristic massing and form of the modern 
development. 

P
age 81



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 5656

4.7 Public Realm

Street Furniture (Lampposts, benches, signage, bins, bike 
stands, bollards etc.)
The conservation area contains several areas of public realm, 
which include street furniture such as benches and bins. The 
area would, however, be enhanced through a consistent 
approach to the design of lampposts and bollards, 
particularly along the High Street, where multiple styles can 
be seen within one vista. Figure 74, for example, shows the 
concrete bollards at the junction of School Lane and the High 
Street, while Figure 75 depicts more historically characteristic 
iron bollards. 

Overall, signage within the conservation area is sympathetic 
to the historic character of the village, particularly along the 
High Street where a high density of commercial buildings 
requires denser signage. The only frontages that may be 
improved are considered to be the Tesco on the High Street 
and Barclays on Church Street, due to their bold and modern 
colour scheme. 

Hard Landscaping
It is considered that there are some areas of inconsistency in 
the approach to hard surfacing, where driveways, private 
roads and sections of pavement are in varying states of repair 
and of varied material. The High Street Mimram Road and 
Mimram Walk, in particular, are areas that may be enhanced 
through a consistent approach to material and maintenance 
of hard surfacing. 

Open Spaces
The open and green spaces across the conservation area 
make a positive contribution, and are integral to its character 
in many instances. The maintenance needs of these spaces 
should be considered and, where appropriate, opportunities 
taken to enhancement them and ensure access is 
maintained. 

Trees and Planting
Appropriate levels of maintenance need to be ensured and, 
where required, opportunities for enhancement sought to 
maintain and manage the trees within the conservation area.

Figure 74 South on the High Street

Figure 75 North on the High Street

P
age 82



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 5757

There are a wide range of issues facing the Welwyn Conservation Area, many of which share 
common themes. This section recommends management proposals which address these 
issues in both the short and long term.

5.1 Positive Management

These proposals relate to positive management and focus on good practice and improved 
ways of working within the local planning authority. These are generally low cost and can be 
implemented within a short time-frame, typically within one or two years.

Non-designated Heritage Assets
There are a number of non-designated heritage assets within the conservation area which 
have been recognised as buildings of local architectural or historic interest, identified in 
Section 2.7. The acknowledgement of non-designated heritage assets facilitates a wider 
appreciation of the special characteristics of the area and could allow for public engagement 
with the heritage of Welwyn, improving awareness and understanding, which is already 
apparent in the Welwyn Heritage Trail. 

There are a number of buildings within the conservation area which are of sufficient quality to 
be regarded as having ‘local list’ status, as highlighted in Section 2.7. These include:

• Gothic House, 23 Church Street;
• The North Lodge, Lockley’s Drive;
• Workers’ cottages on Mill Lane; and

Note this is not an exhaustive list, and other buildings and structures which make a positive 
contribution could also be considered.

Enforcement
Where the necessary permission is not sought for alterations, such as advertising signage and 
building alterations which are not contained within the General Permitted Development 
Order, the Local Planning Authority should consider its enforcement powers. This could assist 
in reinstating any lost character or architectural features whose loss may have a negative 
cumulative effect on the conservation area, as well as avoiding a precedence being set for 
similar, uncharacteristic works.

General Maintenance: Public Realm and Highways
Through the agreement of a standard good practice within the conservation area between 
relevant Local Authority teams and other landowners, long term goals can be set to promote 
good design within the public realm (Policy SADM 6 , Shopfronts, Advertisements and 
Signage and Policy 9 Place Making and High Quality Design). This can include elemnts such as 
responding to existing character to preserve local distinctiveness, ensuring appropriate 
wayfinding, and agreeing a standard street furniture to ensure consistency over time as 
elements are introduced or replaced. This will have a long term positive impact on the 
conservation area. 

Heritage Statements, Heritage Impact Assessments and Archaeological  Assessments
In accordance with the NPPF and Draft Local Plan Policy SADM 15, applicants must describe 
the significance of any heritage assets which are likely to be affected, including any 
contribution made by their setting. The level of detail should be proportionate to the assets’ 
importance and no more than is sufficient to understand the potential impact of the proposal 
on their significance.

All applications within the conservation area and its setting require an appropriately detailed 
heritage assessment. Any application without an assessment should not be validated.
The key views analysed within this document are in no way exhaustive. The impact of any 
addition or the alteration or removal of buildings, structures, trees or highways within key 
views should be considered to aid decision making. This includes development outside the 
conservation area. Where appropriate, views must be considered within Design and Access or 

5.0 Management Proposals

P
age 83



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 5858

Heritage Statements. This should be in accordance with Historic England’s Good Practice 
Advice in Planning Note 3: The Setting of Heritage Assets (2017). Applications which fail to 
have assessed impact upon views, setting and significance should not be validated.

Tree Management
Trees that are either located in a conservation area or covered by a Tree Preservation Order or 
planning condition have a degree of protection.

Where a tree is protected consent must be given by the council in writing before you do any 
works to it including cutting down, uprooting, topping, lopping, severing roots, wilful 
damage or destruction.

Where trees contribute to local amenity and the character or appearance of the conservation 
area their retention and appropriate management will be encouraged. If felling is necessary 
due to the condition of the tree (dead, dying or dangerous) then an appropriate replacement 
tree should be planted.

New Development
To be successful, any future development needs to be mindful of the local character of the 
conservation area, while at the same time addressing contemporary issues such as 
sustainability. Policy SP 9 provides further information on Place Making and High Quality 
Design:
 Proposals will be required to deliver a high quality design that fosters a positive   
 sense of place by responding to the following principles in an integrated and   
 coherent way.

Policy SP 9 highlights that to achieve high quality and sustainable design, new development 
must:

• Respond to character and context;
• Be legible, permeable and well connected;
• Provide high quality public space and landscaping;
• Provide space for nature;
• Be vibrant and diverse;
• Be safe and secure;
• Consider building function and form; and
• Assess the impact of taller buildings.

Historic England and CABE guidelines are that:-

Successful new development will:
• Relate to the geography and history of the place and the lie of the land;
• Sit happily in the pattern of existing development and routes through and around it 

(including public footpaths);
• Respect important views;
• Respect the scale of neighbouring buildings;
• Use materials and building methods which as high in quality of those used in existing 

buildings; and
• Create new views and juxtapositions which add to the variety and texture of their 

setting.
• Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council should guide development in a positive manner by:
• Engage with developers at an early stage through the Pre-Application Process to ensure 

modern development is high quality in design, detail and materials;
• Ensure medium-large scale development schemes are referred to a Design Review (or 

similar) to ensure that new buildings, additions and alterations are designed to be in 
sympathy with the established character of the area. The choice of materials and the 
detailed design of building features are important in making sure it’s appropriate to a 
Conservation Area; and

• Seek opportunities for developers to make a positive contribution to the wider historic 
environment through Section 106 Agreements.

P
age 84



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 5959

Tall Buildings
Any development within the conservation area or its setting must take into account existing 
built development, key views, impact on skyline, and the relationship with the semi-rural 
character and significance, to ensure that the height of new buildings does not impact the 
area negatively (in accorance with Policy SP 9).

Neutral Elements
The dilution of positive buildings amongst those which are neutral leads to an 
underwhelming and indistinctive overall character. Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council should 
not allow for the quality of design to be ‘averaged down’ by the neutral and negative 
elements of the built environment. The Local Planning Authority must where possible seek 
schemes which enhance the built environment (Policies SADM 15 and SP 9).

Public Facing Resources
The preservation and enhancement of private properties can be improved through the 
publishing of resources aimed to inform property owners and members of the public. An 
introductory summary of the Conservation Area Appraisal in the form of a leaflet or 
factsheet(s) is a simple way to communicate the significance of the area and ensure members 
of the public are aware of the implications of owning a property within a conservation area. In 
addition, a maintenance guide would assist property owners in caring for their property in an 
appropriate manner. A single Good Practice Design Guide on standard alterations such as 
signage, shop-fronts, windows, doors, rainwater goods, boundaries and roof extensions will 
ensure there is no future inappropriate development.

Poor maintenance leads to the deterioration of the fabric of the built environment and results 
in a loss of architectural details. Improved awareness of simple maintenance and repair would 
be conducive with the preservation of Welwyn’s built heritage.

Improved Understanding and Awareness
At present there is a range of heritage interpretation within the conservation area, including 
information boards, signage, and interactive QR Codes. These features improve 

understanding and awareness of the unique historic character of Welwyn, and the 
importance of the historic environment. It is advised that existing features are maintained, to 
ensure the technology is working and information boards are well-kept, and that further 
research is undertaken to continue to strengthen shared understanding of the heritage assets 
of Welwyn and its associative value. 

5.2 Positive Management: Longer Term

These proposals are focussed around positive management but either take longer to 
implement or are better suited to a longer time frame.

Boundary
The conservation area boundary has been considered within this appraisal in accordance with 
the NPPF (2021) and Historic England Advice Note 1 Conservation Area Appraisal, Designation 
and Management (2019).

The conservation area should be reviewed regularly to monitor change and inform 
management proposals. The boundary should be assessed as part of this review to ensure it is 
robust and adequately protects the significance of the area.

Character Appraisal and Management Plan
The Conservation Area should be reviewed regularly to monitor change and inform 
management proposals.

Opportunity Sites
The first opportunity to enhance the character and appearance of the conservation area is 
through investment to improve the wider public realm. This can be achieved through 
continuing to improve hard surfacing and street furniture to ensure a consistent approach, 
and continuing to maintain areas of open space.

P
age 85



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 6060

There is also opportunity for improvement to the grade II listed former coach house within the 
curtilage of The Rose and Crown due to its current state of repair.

Car Parking
In line with the objectives for Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council, work should be undertaken to 
retain off-street parking facilities in the village centre and support the provision of bus services 
and cycleways between villages to maintain and enhance accessibility to the village. 

5.3 Funding Opportunities

There are four main funding opportunities which would assist in the execution of these plans:

Heritage Lottery Fund
The Heritage Lottery Fund is the single largest dedicated funder of heritage in the UK and 
therefore is the most obvious potential source of funding. Funding is often targeted at schemes 
which preserve, enhance and better reveal the special interest of the area whilst also improving 
public awareness and understanding. Grant opportunities and requirements change overtime, 
for up-to-date information on HLF schemes Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council should consult 
their appointed Heritage Specialist.

Heritage Action Zones (Historic England)
Heritage Action Zones are intended to help unlock the economic potential of an area through 
investing in heritage, making them more attractive to resident, businesses, tourists and 
investors.

Section 106 Agreements
Planning obligations, also known as Section 106 agreements, can be used by the local authority 
where it is necessary to address the impact on the historic environment to ensure any future 
development has a positive impact upon Welwyn. These agreements could be used to fund 
public realm or site specific improvements.

Partnership Schemes in Conservation Areas (Historic England)
Partnership Schemes in Conservation Areas is a programme run by Historic England to target 
funding for the preservation and enhancement of conservation areas. As the name suggests, 
the scheme forms partnerships with local authorities (along with any additional funding 
partners) to facilitate the regeneration of an area through the conservation of its built heritage. 
The scheme makes funds available to individuals to enable them to carry out repairs or 
improvement works to their property to enhance the area. This would be suitable to preserve 
and enhance either the shop frontages or the architectural detailing.

P
age 86



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 6161

6.1  Bibliography

British History Online  ‘Parishes: Welwyn’, in A History of the County of Hertford: 
Volume 3, ed. William Page (London), pp. 165-171.  http://
www.british-history.ac.uk/vch/herts/vol3/pp165-171 
[accessed 5 March 2019].

1912

English Heritage Extensive Urban Survey - Hertfordshire 2005

Historic England The Setting of Heritage Assets 2017

Historic England Conservation Area Appraisal, Designation and 
Management (Advice Note 1) 

2019

J.E.B. Gover, Allen 
Mawer, and F.M. 
Stenton

The Place-Names of Hertfordshire, Cambridge University 
Press

1938

Arthur Jones Shire County Guides: Hertfordshire, Shire Publications 1993

Ministry of Housing, 
Communities and 
Local Government

National Planning and Policy Framework 2021

Morant, P. The History and Antiquities of the County of Essex, Vol II,  
Reprint 1978, EP Publishing Ltd. with Essex County Library, 
370-373

1763-8

Murray J. A1(M) Motorway Widening, Junctions 6-8: an 
archaeological evaluation, Hertfordshire Archaeological 
Trust reports 

1993

Rumble, A. Domesday Book, Phillimore, Chichester 1983

6.0 Appendices

P
age 87



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 6262

6.2 Listed Buildings

List Entry Name Grade

1100961 GUESSENS II*

1100907 TELEPHONE KIOSK II

1100927 2, HIGH STREET II

1100928 4, HIGH STREET II

1100929 10, HIGH STREET II

1100930 WELWYN DESIGN;R GUNNER,BUTCHER AND POULTERER II

1100931 11A, HIGH STREET II

1100932 OAKLEIGH II

1100933 THE RECTORY II

1100936 THE VINEYARD II

1100937 13 AND 15, MILL LANE II

1100938 MILL HOUSE AND GARDEN WALL II

1100939 EBENEZER STRICT BAPTIST CHURCH II

1100941 THE WHITE HART II

1100942 THE WHITE HOUSE II

1100956 WALLS,RAILINGS AND GATES TO CHURCHYARD OF ST MARY’S PARISH CHURCH II

1100957 THE ROSE AND CROWN PUBLIC HOUSE,FORMER COACH HOUSE ON NORTH SIDE OF CAR PARK II

1100959 13, CHURCH STREET II

P
age 88



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 6363

1100960 THODY’S OF WELWYN II

1100963 IVY COTTAGE II

1174971 PARISH CHURCH OF ST MARY II

1174994 OLD CHURCH HOUSE II

1175002 ROSE COTTAGE II

1175014 THE OLD CHEQUERS II

1175021 9, CHURCH STREET II

1175043 17, CHURCH STREET II

1175058 WENDOVER LODGE II

1175068 THE GRANGE II

1175079 (GUESSENS) MILESTONE ON PAVEMENT ABUTTING FRONT WALL NEAR NORTH END OF RANGE II

1175170 BAKERY II

1175176 29, HIGH STREET II

1175190 SURGERY II

1175255 THE WHITE HORSE PUBLIC HOUSE II

1175263 40,42, MILL LANE II

1175300 23 AND 25, MILL LANE II

1175315 APPLETREES II

1175330 6-12, MIMRAM ROAD II

1295332 PARTLY OCCUPIED BY THE WHITE HART PUBLIC HOUSE II

1295334 LITTLE MANOR COTTAGE II

P
age 89



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 6464

1295405 4, LONDON ROAD II

1348163 GARDEN WALL AND BARN AT NUMBER 1 II

1348185 BRIDGE HOUSE II

1348186 THE WELLINGTON INN HOTEL II

1348187 SURGERY II

1348188 LITTLE CHEQUERS II

1348190 32, MILL LANE (See details for further address information) II

1348191 21, MILL LANE II

1348192 PARKSIDE II

1348194 THE MANOR HOUSE AND WEST MANOR II

1348199 THE ROSE AND CROWN PUBLIC HOUSE II

1348200 24, CHURCH STREET II

1348201 15, CHURCH STREET II

P
age 90



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 6565

LEGISLATION/POLICY/
GUIDANCE

DOCUMENT SECTION/POLICY

Primary Legislation Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 66: General duty as respects listed buildings in exercise of planning 
functions.
72: General duty as respects conservation areas in exercise of 
planning functions.

National Planning Policy National Planning Policy Framework (2021) DCLG Section 16;
Annex 2

National Guidance National Planning Practice Guidance (2014) DCLG ID: 18a

National Guidance Historic England (2017) Historic Environment Good Practice Advice in 
Planning Note 3 (Second Edition): The Setting of Heritage Assets

National Guidance Historic England (2019) Statements of Heritage Significance: Advice 
Note 12

Local Policy Welwyn Hatfield District Plan (2005)  Saved Policies R24 – Character Appraisals and Enhancements
R27 – Demolition of Listed Buildings
R28 – Historic Parks and Gardens
R29 – Archaeology 
D1 – Quality of Design
D2 – Character and Context
D3 – Continuity and Enclosure
D4 – Quality of the Public Realm
D5 – Design for Movement
D6 – Legibility
D7 – Safety by Design
D8 – Landscaping
D9 – Access and Design for People with Disabilities
D10 – Public Art
OS1 - Urban Open Land

6.3 Legislation and Planning Policy

P
age 91



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 6666

Local Policy Draft Local Plan Proposed Submission (August 2016) SADM 6 – Shopfronts, Advertisements and Signage
SP 9 – Place-making and High Quality Design
SP 11 – Protection and Enhancement of Critical Environmental Assets
SADM 15 – Heritage
SADM 17 - Urban Open Land

Local Policy Estate Management Scheme (EMS) EM1 – Extensions and Alterations
EM2 – Erection of New Buildings
EM3 – Works to Trees and Hedgerows
EM4 – Hard Surfacing
EM5 – Energy Efficiency and Other Roof Alterations  (awaiting 
adoption)

P
age 92



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 6767

Term Description

Archaeological interest There will be archaeological interest in a heritage asset if it holds, or potentially may hold, evidence of past 
human activity worthy of expert investigation at some point. Heritage assets with archaeological interest are 
the primary source of evidence about the substance and evolution of places, and of the people and cultures 
that made them.

Conservation (for heritage 
policy)

The process of maintaining and managing change to a heritage asset in a way that sustains and, where 
appropriate, enhances its significance.

Designated heritage asset A World Heritage Site, Scheduled Monument, Listed Building, Protected Wreck Site, Registered Park and 
Garden, Registered Battlefield or Conservation Area designated under the relevant legislation.

Heritage asset A building, monument, site, place, area or landscape identified as having a degree of significance meriting 
consideration in planning decisions, because of its heritage interest. Heritage asset includes designated 
heritage assets and assets identified by the local planning authority (including local listing).

Historic environment All aspects of the environment resulting from the interaction between people and places through time, 
including all surviving physical remains of past human activity, whether visible, buried or submerged, and 
landscaped and planted or managed flora. 

Historic environment record Information services that seek to provide access to comprehensive and dynamic resources relating to the 
historic environment of a defined geographic area for public benefit and use. 

Setting of a heritage asset The surroundings in which a heritage asset is experienced. Its extent is not fixed and may change as the asset 
and its surroundings evolve. Elements of a setting may make a positive or negative contribution to the 
significance of an asset, may affect the ability to appreciate that significance or may be neutral.

Significance (for heritage 
policy)

The value of a heritage asset to this and future generations because of its heritage interest. That interest may 
be archaeological, architectural, artistic or historic. Significance derives not only from a heritage asset’s physical 
presence, but also from its setting.

6.4 Glossary (National Planning Policy Framework)

P
age 93



Place Services
County Hall, Essex CM1 1QH

T: +44 (0)3330 136 844
E: enquiries @placeservices.co.uk

www.placeservices.co.uk

 @PlaceServices

P
age 94



Welwyn Village Conservation Area

© Place Services 2022 1212

Figure 7 Potential Revisions to Conservation Area Boundary

±0 50 100
metres

Suggested areas to
consider for removal
from the Conservation
Area

Existing Conservation
Area

2.5 Potential revisions to the Boundary 

As part of this review of the conservation area and the public 
consultation it is suggested that the boundary of the area is 
reviewed to ensure it adequately reflects the area’s special 
architectural and historic interest.

The NPPF (2021) states that “When considering the 
designation of conservation areas, local planning authorities 
should ensure that an area justifies such status because of its 
special architectural or historic interest, and that the concept 
of conservation is not devalued through the designation of 
areas that lack special interest”.

Some areas which could be considered for removal from 
the conservation area boundary are: 
• Parkside – modern housing development to the south 

east of the area
• Riverside – modern development to the north west of 

the area
• Welwyn Hall Gardens and Wendover Lodge – housing 

development to the north east 
• St Mary’s Close – small close of modern housing in the 

north west of area
• Ellesfield - twentieth century bungalows

P
age 95



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	7 HOUSING DELIVERY TEST ACTION PLAN
	Appendix 1 - Housing Delivery Test Action Plan

	8 WELWYN VILLAGE CONSERVATION AREA CHARACTER APPRAISAL AND MANAGEMENT PLAN
	Appendix A CA&MP Compressed
	Appendix B Boundary


